# TOWN OF REHOBOTH

# PERSONNEL POLICIES



With Amendments through March 2024

# TOWN OF REHOBOTH PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Policy		Page
Intr	oduction	1
1	General Provisions	3
2	Administration	6
MAN	NAGEMENT RIGHTS	
3	Official Employee Records	7
4	Discipline	10
5	Standards of Conduct	13
6	Safety	15
7	<b>Town Motor Vehicle Driver Policy</b>	16
EMP	PLOYEE RIGHTS	
8	Sexual Harassment Policy	19
9	Family and Medical Leave (FMLA)	23
10	Small Necessities Leave (SNLA)	28
11	[Unused]	29
12	Massachusetts Parental Leave	30
13	Domestic Violence Leave	31
14	<b>Requests for Reasonable Accommodations</b>	34
15	Pregnant Worker Policy	37
16	Grievance Procedure	41
17	Exit Interview	43
EMP	PLOYMENT CONDITIONS	

18	Recruitment and Employment	45
19	Orientation and Probation	<b>48</b>
20	Promotions	50
21	Training and Education	51
22	<b>Performance Evaluation System</b>	53

# **Policy**

# Page

# HOURS OF WORK/RATES OF PAY

23	Classification Plan	56
24	Compensation Plan	58
25	General Hours of Work/Attendance	59
26	Interim Assignment Pay	62
27	Unpaid Leave of Absence	63
28	Volunteers	64

# BENEFITS

29	<b>Overview of Employee Benefits</b>	66
30	Holidays	68
31	Vacation Leave	69
32	Personal Leave	71
33	Sick Leave	72
34	Bereavement Leave	74
35	Military Leave	76
36	Jury Duty	77
37	Mileage Reimbursement	78

# WORKPLACE POLICIES

38	Information Technology Acceptable Use Policy	79
39	Social Media Acceptable Use Policy	84
40	Substance Abuse	88
41	Workplace Violence Policy	90
42	Workplace Bullying	93
43	Dress Code Guidelines	95
44	Office Decoration Policy	97

# **APPENDICES**

Α	Table of Present and Former Numbering	99
B	List of Forms Referred to in the Policy Manual	101

#### TOWN OF REHOBOTH PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL

#### Introduction

It is the purpose of this manual to establish and maintain a uniform system for managing personnel matters; to comply with applicable employment laws; and to provide for the standards, terms, and conditions of employment with the Town of Rehoboth in a clear and comprehensive fashion to maximize the efficiency and orderliness of operations. It is further intended, by adoption and periodic amendment of these policies and procedures, that they serve as a guide for employees of the Town in their routine work activities and relationships to the maximum extent that the objectives of both the Town of Rehoboth and the individual employees can be achieved.

The Town believes that the ability to provide quality service to the townspeople is largely due to the quality of its employees, the development of each employee's full potential, and the Towns' ability to provide timely and satisfying rewards. The Town also recognizes that employees differ in their skills, goals, perceptions, and values; and that it is basic to human nature that conditions may arise that are either insufficiently addressed in these policies and procedures, or that result in conflicts. In such cases, the Town will endeavor to make personnel decisions that are fair and equitable, while at all times assuring that the best interests of the Town are served.

The Town hereby asserts that it has the right to employ the best qualified persons available; that the continuation of employment is based on the need for work to be performed, availability of funds, faithful and effective performance, proper personal conduct, and the continuing fitness of employees; and that all employees are terminable at will unless otherwise specified in writing as a prescribed employment term. Conversely, employees deserve to be fully informed of their duties and responsibilities; to be provided with adequate administrative and supervisory direction; to be informed of their performance levels; to be compensated based on the value of their contributions; to be considered for promotional opportunities; and to be treated with dignity and respect at all times.

Therefore, the policies and procedures set forth in this manual prescribe the terms, conditions, and standards of personnel operations for the Town, the content of which is neither contractually binding upon the Town nor restrictive in terms of amendment or interpretation by the Town. Employees are expected to acquaint themselves fully with the contents of this manual in order to establish an employment relationship based on a complete understanding of the Town of Rehoboth's personnel requirements, expectations, and methods of conducting personnel matters. Since it is the policy of the Town to encourage employee participation in matters that affect their work, employees are encouraged to offer suggestions for improvement of these policies, employee practices, or working conditions. [See Town of Rehoboth General Bylaws Chapter H, Section 5(a).]

These personnel policies and procedures shall be interpreted, applied, and endorsed by supervisory and managerial employees and elected officials of the Town. To ensure fairness and consistency in these personnel matters, the Town has designated the Personnel Board to be responsible for the development of these policies, and for the overall administration of the personnel by-law and personnel system [Town of Rehoboth General By Laws, Chapter H, Section 3].

#### Notes for this new, revised version:

This version of the Town of Rehoboth Personnel Policy Manual contains policies added recently but not printed in the Manual: Workplace Bullying, Office Decoration Policy, and Social Media Policy. In addition, Policies 2, 3, 4, and 5 have recently been reviewed and revised and were adopted officially by the Personnel Board after a public hearing held March 28, 2024.

Forms associated with these policies are no longer presented within these policies. They are maintained in the Town Administrator's Office and can be accessed on line. A table at the end lists forms mentioned in these policies.

This version of the Town of Rehoboth Personnel Policy Manual has been reorganized so as to present the various items under headings that group related items together. Thus, many policies have new numbers. A table at the end cross-references the new numbers with the previous ones.

Richard Panofsky, Chair, Personnel Board

4-2-24

Date

Frederick Vadnais, Chair, Board of Selectmen

Date

#### POLICY NUMBER 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1.1 <u>Authorization</u>. The Personnel Board, in accordance with the provisions of the Town of Rehoboth General Bylaws Chapter H, promulgates these policies. Except for wages, benefits, conditions of employment, and points of mandatory collective bargaining according to M.G.L. c. 150E, these personnel policies and procedures shall apply to all Town employees except elected officials, independent contractors and employees of the School Department. However, elected officials and independent contractors will be required to abide by and enforce these policies as they pertain to positions and employees under their supervision.
- 1.2 <u>Purpose</u>. The purpose of these policies is to provide specific guidelines for carrying out the intent of the personnel bylaw.
- 1.3 Rules of Interpretation
  - (a) These policies should be construed to be in accordance with all applicable state and federal laws and consistent with collective bargaining agreements and personal services contracts. In the event of inconsistencies between the applicable state or federal law, collective bargaining or personal services contracts and these policies, the terms and conditions of the specific contract, bylaw, or law shall prevail. In all other cases, these personnel policies and procedures shall apply. In the event of the amendment of any ordinance, rule or law incorporated in this document or upon which these provisions rely, these policies and procedures shall be deemed amended in conformance with those changes.
  - (b) Words imparting the singular number may extend and be applied to several persons.
  - (c) Each separate and identifiable department or work unit of the Town may develop, implement, and revise as necessary such policies, procedures, and rules pertaining to unique operational requirements and their effect upon unit employees as are needed for efficient and effective performance of the unit. Such policies, procedures, and rules should not conflict with these policies and procedures, or amendments hereto, and therefore, must be approved by the Personnel Board/Officer prior to implementation. Where conflicts arise, the policies and procedures contained in this manual will prevail, except as noted in Paragraph (a) above.

#### 1.4 Definitions

- (a) *Town*—the Town of Rehoboth.
- (b) *Employee* an employee of the Town of Rehoboth occupying a position in the classification plan including persons who are on authorized leaves of absence.

- (c) *Regular full-time employee* an employee who has satisfactorily completed an initial probationary period and works not less than thirty (30) hours per week for fifty-two (52) weeks per year minus legal holidays, authorized vacation leave, and other authorized leaves of absence.
- (d) *Probationary employee* new, rehired, or promoted employee who serves a prescribed period of close supervision and evaluation in order to assess their ability and adaptation. Probationary employment may be terminated at the will and discretion of the Town without advance notice, or by the employee.
- (e) *Regular part-time employee* an employee who works less than full-time. Town sponsored employee benefits may be reduced or unavailable depending on the number of hours worked.
- (f) *Temporary employee* an employee holding a job of limited or specified duration arising out of special projects; position vacancy pending appointment in the absence of a position incumbent; abnormal work loads; emergencies; or other reasons established by the Town. Temporary employees may work either full-time or part-time work schedules, but are not eligible for regular employee benefits unless otherwise required by law.
- (g) *On-call employee* an employee who works an intermittent schedule on an as needed basis.
- (h) *Appointing authority* any board or official authorized by town bylaw, general law, or otherwise to hire or terminate employees.
- (i) *Selection official* the elected or appointed department head authorized to make the final decision to hire an employee.
- (j) *Department head* the officer responsible for supervising a department's operations and activities.
- (k) *Class* a group of positions sufficiently similar with respect to the general nature of duties, authority and responsibility.
- (1) *Compensation* the salary or wages earned by an employee by reason of service in the position, but does not include allowances for expenses authorized and incurred as incidents of employment.
- (m) Personnel Officer the officer appointed by the Board of Selectmen to have full authority to administer the Town's personnel system. Also known as Personnel Director as required by M.G.L. ch.31A, Sections 4 and 6.

1.5 <u>Amendment of Policies</u>. The Personnel Board specifically reserves the right to repeal, modify, or amend these policies at any time in accordance with the provisions of Chapter H Section 5 of the Town of Rehoboth General Bylaws. None of these provisions shall be deemed to create a vested contractual right in any employee or to limit the power of the Personnel Board to repeal or modify these rules. The policies are not to be interpreted as promises of specific treatment.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board January 23, 2019

#### POLICY NUMBER 2 ADMINISTRATION

2.1 Policy. The Personnel Board shall be responsible for the overall administration of the personnel bylaw, including establishment of the personnel system, development of the Town's personnel policies, and administration of employment-related appeals. The Personnel Officer has full authority to administer the Town's personnel system, and is responsible for its daily administration. The Personnel Officer is appointed by the Board of Selectmen and may be a current employee or hired on a contractual basis.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 28, 2024

#### MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

# POLICY NUMBER 3 OFFICIAL EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL RECORDS

- 3.1 <u>Centralized Record Keeping</u>. Personnel records for all town employees shall be maintained in a secure centralized location. These records are maintained to ensure compliance with state and federal law and to ensure effective personnel management. The Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee shall be responsible for maintaining these records. All employees shall comply with and assist in furnishing records, reports, and information, as may be requested by the Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee.
- <u>3.2</u> <u>Contents of Personnel Records</u>. An individual personnel file and separate medical file shall be maintained for each employee. The personnel file shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
  - a) The employee's name, address, date of birth, social security number, job title and description.
  - b) The rate of pay and any other compensation paid to the employee.
  - c) Starting date of employment.
  - d) The job application, résumés, and other material provided by the employee when applying for the job.
  - e) Performance evaluations, training records, commendations, test results related to job performance or qualifications.
  - f) Written warnings of substandard performance, lists of probationary periods, waivers signed by the employee, dated termination notices, and any other documents related to disciplinary action regarding the employee.
  - g) Reports of all personnel actions reflecting the original appointment, subsequent promotions, demotions, change in rate of pay, reassignments, transfers, attendance records, leaves of absence or layoffs.
- 3.3 Documents Maintained in Separate Files
  - a) Medical records of any type, including requests for accommodation of a disability.
  - b) Information related to CORI checks or similar background investigations.
  - c) Form I-9 verifying that the employee is legally authorized to work in the U.S.
  - d) Information about a person other than the employee if disclosure of the information would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of that person's privacy.
- <u>3.4</u> <u>Notification to Employee</u>. If any record or information is placed in the personnel file that could negatively affect the employee's qualification for employment, promotion, transfer, additional compensation, or that the employee will be subject to disciplinary action, the employee must be notified within ten days.

#### <u>3.5</u> <u>Access to Records</u>

- a) Any employee may, upon completion of a "Request to View Files" form, have access to view his/her official personnel file or medical file in the presence of the Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee, within five (5) business days of the employee's request, but no more than twice annually. Any employee may, upon completion of a "Request to Copy Files" form, receive a copy of his/her official personnel file or medical file, within five (5) business days of the employee's request.
- b) The employee's Department Head may review the personnel file in the presence of the Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee.
- c) The Board of Selectmen and the Chair of the Personnel Board may review the personnel file of an employee in the presence of the Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee if necessary to address legitimate personnel issues.
- d) A log shall be maintained by the Personnel Officer or the Personnel Officer's designee, and any time a personnel file is accessed, it shall be recorded in the log. The log shall include the employee's name, type of file (medical or standard) accessed, the date and time of access, who viewed the file, and who witnessed the viewing.
- e) Documents that the employee may not review include reference checks, records of any investigation undertaken by the Town, documents related to a judicial proceeding, or documents that would violate the confidentiality of another employee.
- 3.6 Disagreement with Content. If there is disagreement with any information contained in a personnel record, removal or correction of such information may be mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Personnel Officer. If agreement is not reached, the employee may submit a written statement explaining the employee's position, and this statement is to be included in the file. If information is placed in the file that is false, the employee shall have remedy through the Grievance Policy or judicial process to have such information expunged.
- 3.7 <u>Record Retention</u>. The personnel files must be retained in their entirety for at least 20 years after the termination of employment. If there is any administrative or judicial action brought by the employee, then the files shall be kept until that action is resolved. When documents are destroyed, they must be destroyed by shredding or in an equivalent secure manner.
- 3.8 <u>Medical Files.</u> All medical information is to be kept separate from the personnel files in a locked file. The Personnel Officer shall have sole access to the medical file. Other individuals such as the Chairman of the Personnel Board or the Chairman of the Board of Selectmen shall be granted access to the medical files only for cases where the medical information is necessary to address legitimate personnel issues, and such access is in compliance with the law of the Commonwealth.
- <u>3.9</u> <u>Contents of Medical Files</u>. The medical file is a repository for everything that has to do with health, health benefits, employee health-related leave, and benefits selection and coverage for the employee. These are the type of items that belong in the medical file:
  - a) Health insurance applications and forms.
  - b) Life insurance applications and forms.

- c) Designated beneficiary information.
- d) Applications for any other employee benefit that might require medical information such as vision insurance.
- e) Requests for paid or unpaid medical leaves of absence.
- f) Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) reports, any related applications, or any related paperwork prepared or signed by a health care provider.
- g) Documentation about illnesses of a family member or child for whom an employee applies for FMLA leave.
- h) Medically-related leave documentation for employees who are ineligible for FMLA.
- i) Any examinations, notes, correspondence, or excuses for absenteeism from a health care provider.
- j) Medical job restrictions with documentation from the recommending health care provider.
- k) Accident and injury reports, including documents required by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).
- 1) Workers' compensation reports of injury or illness.
- m) Documents related to the Americans with Disability Act (ADA).
- n) Any other form or document that contains private medical information.
- 3.10 <u>Release of Information</u>. No information pertaining to current or former employees contained in the official personnel file may be disclosed in any manner to third party recipients without prior written permission from the employee, except to comply with the Massachusetts Public Records Law or a court order or subpoena.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 28, 2024

#### POLICY NUMBER 4 DISCIPLINE

- 4.1 Policy. The discipline policy is designed to provide a progressive corrective action process to improve and prevent a recurrence of undesirable conduct and/or performance issues. Although the policy recommends progressive levels of discipline, steps/levels may be combined, skipped, or varied based upon the facts of each situation or the nature of the offense. Nothing in this policy provides any contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-will relationship between the Town of Rehoboth and its employees.
- 4.2 <u>Reasons for Disciplinary Actions</u>. Each employee is responsible for observing the rules and regulations necessary for proper operation of departments in the Town, as well as performing his/her duties diligently and to the standards set forth in his/her job description or as otherwise established. Disciplinary action may be imposed upon an employee for failure to fulfill responsibilities or failure to observe the rules and regulations of the Town.

Illegal conduct is not subject to progressive discipline and may be reported to local law enforcement in addition to establishing grounds for immediate dismissal. Theft, intoxication or drug use at work, and fighting and other acts of violence are also not subject to progressive discipline and may be grounds for immediate termination. The employee may be suspended with or without pay while the issues are being considered.

#### <u>4.3</u> Procedure

(a) Level One Warning

Unless the seriousness of a performance or behavioral issue immediately warrants a more severe disciplinary level, supervisors should use a level one warning as an opportunity to meet with the employee to bring attention to the existing performance, conduct or attendance issue. The supervisor is expected to discuss with the employee the nature of the problem, and to clearly outline expectations and steps the employee must take to improve performance or resolve the problem.

Within five (5) business days, the supervisor will prepare written documentation of the meeting on a form approved by the Personnel Board. The employee will be asked to sign this document and, if desired, provide information that may challenge the issue presented for disciplinary action. The supervisor will provide all documentation to the Personnel Officer or designee to be placed in the employee's personnel file.

#### (b) Level Two Warning

A level two warning may be used when the seriousness of an issue immediately warrants a more severe response than a level one warning or when performance, conduct or attendance issues that were first documented in a level one warning have not been corrected. A level two warning involves more formal documentation of the issues and consequences.

When issuing a level two warning, the immediate supervisor and the Personnel Officer or designee will meet with the employee and review any additional incidents or information about the issue(s) as well as any prior relevant corrective action plans or measures. The supervisor will outline the consequences for the employee of his or her continued failure to meet performance and/or conduct expectations. Within five (5) business days, the supervisor will prepare written documentation of the meeting using the form provided by the Personnel Officer. The employee will be asked to sign this document and, if desired, provide information that may challenge the issue presented. The supervisor will provide all documentation to the Personnel Officer or designee to be placed in the personnel file.

(c) Suspension

In addition to unresolved issues previously documented through a level one or level two warning, there may be performance, conduct, or safety incidents so problematic and harmful that the most effective action is the temporary removal of the employee from the workplace. The supervisor may initiate suspension of any employee under his/her supervision. The appointing authority or designee shall approve the suspension under this provision, provided that the following procedures are adhered to:

- (1) Depending upon the seriousness of the infraction, the employee may be suspended without pay in full-day increments consistent with federal, state and local wage-and-hour employment laws. Employees may not substitute or use any accrued paid, personal, vacation, sick or other accrued leave in lieu of the unpaid suspension. The Personnel Board should be consulted for guidance so that the discipline is administered in compliance with the Fair Labor Standard Act (FLSA) exemption status of any employee.
- (2) Prior to issuing a suspension, the immediate supervisor, the Personnel Officer or designee, and the appointing authority or designee will meet with the employee and review any additional incidents or information about the issue(s) as well as any prior relevant corrective action plans or measures.
- (3) Within one (1) day after the suspension, and on the same day unless that is impractical, the employee shall be given a copy of the Discipline Policy, which includes the employee's appeal rights, and a written notice stating the specific reason(s) for said suspension.
- (4) A copy of the written suspension notice shall be submitted to the Personnel Board on the same day it is provided to the employee.
- (d) Termination of Employment

The last and most serious step in the progressive discipline procedure is a recommendation to terminate employment. Whenever possible, the Town of Rehoboth will try to exercise the progressive nature of this policy by first providing warnings and/or suspension from the workplace before proceeding to a recommendation to terminate employment. Some issues or incidents are so problematic as to warrant termination without first progressing through the lesser steps of this policy. The appointing authority or designee may initiate discharge of any regular full-time, regular part-time employee, or temporary employee under this provision.

Prior to terminating, the immediate supervisor, the Personnel Officer or designee, and the appointing authority or designee will meet with the employee and review any additional incidents or information about the issue(s) as well as any prior relevant corrective action plans or measures. Employees may be terminated without prior disciplinary action. Within one (1) day after the discharge, the employee shall be given a copy of the Discipline Personnel Policy, which includes the employee's appeal rights, and a written notice stating the specific reason(s) for said discharge. A copy of the written notice shall be submitted to the Personnel Officer and the Personnel Board.

#### 4.4 Employee's Right to Appeal Suspension or Termination

#### Right to a Hearing

Within two (2) working days of a suspension or termination, the employee may request a hearing before the Board of Selectmen, which will be conducted per town bylaws and state law. The Board of Selectmen will hear the case as made by the appointing authority or designee with the employee in attendance and with the right to bring evidence or witnesses. Notice of the hearing shall be given to the Personnel Board, and any party to the matter may request the Chair of the Personnel Board or designee to be present as a resource at the hearing. The resulting decision of the Board of Selectmen is final.

#### Rescission of Suspension or Discharge

An employee whose suspension or discharge under this policy is rescinded following a hearing by the Board of Selectmen shall be deemed not to have been suspended or discharged and shall be entitled to compensation for the period for which said employee was not paid.

#### Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 28, 2024

#### POLICY NUMBER 5 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

- 5.1 Policy. Town employees are prohibited from engaging in any conduct that could reflect unfavorably upon the Town. Town employees shall avoid any action that might result in or create the impression of using public office for private gain; giving preferential treatment to any person, business, or organization; or displaying less than complete impartiality in conducting Town business. Employees are expected to keep in mind that they are public employees and are to conduct themselves accordingly in a manner which in no way discredits the Town, public officials or fellow employees. Any violations of the policies, rules or regulations set forth herein shall be deemed to violate the standards of conduct expected of all employees.
- 5.2 <u>Receipt of Gifts</u>. Employees are prohibited from soliciting or accepting any gift, gratuity, favor, entertainment, loan or any other item of monetary value from any person who is seeking to obtain business with the Town, or from any person within or outside the Town employment whose interests may be affected by the employee's performance or non-performance of official duties.
- 5.3 <u>Conflict of Interest</u>. All employees shall comply with the State Conflict of Interest Law [M.G.L. Ch 268A] in all respects. Every two years, all current municipal employees must complete online training. New employees must complete this training within 30 days of beginning public service, and every two years thereafter, and acknowledge every year having received a summary of the law.
- 5.4 Customer Service. The Town is committed to operating in an efficient, customer serviceoriented manner throughout its course of business. Every employee of official capacity representing the Town organization provides services to the public. It is the responsibility of every employee to promote a positive, helpful, and friendly environment for the benefit of our customers, residents, and our fellow employees. All employees are required to treat customers, residents, and our fellow employees with respect and dignity in interactions both written and verbal. All employees are required to use their best judgment and effort in assisting customers, residents, and our fellow employees. The workplace shall be free from interactions which are demeaning, belittling, vulgar or use offensive words or conduct.
- 5.5 Safety and Security. In addition, the Town supports a workplace that is conducive to personal safety and security and free from intimidation, threats, or acts of violence. The Town does not tolerate workplace violence including threats of violence by anyone who conducts business in or works for the Town.
- <u>5.6</u> <u>Confidentiality</u>. The Town deals with many organizations, state and federal agencies, private businesses and residents/citizens. In many cases, the Town is dealing with issues that are of a confidential and sensitive nature. Town employees are responsible for

maintaining this confidentiality at all times with regard to information provided or known to them.

- <u>5.7</u> Smokefree Workplace. Smoking has been identified as the single most important detriment to an individual's health. For the smoker, the adverse effects of smoking contribute to a loss of personal health. Smoking may also adversely influence the health of those who are exposed to second-hand smoke. The Smoke-Free Workplace Law, M.G.L. Ch. 270, §22, mandates that enclosed workplaces with one or more employees, and outdoor areas near open windows and doors through which smoke may migrate, must be smoke-free. The full text of the law and additional information is available at www.mass.gov/dph/mtcp. Smoking is prohibited in all enclosed workplaces, including but not limited to all buildings owned, leased, or otherwise occupied by the Town of Rehoboth, and outdoor areas near open windows and doors through which smoke may migrate. Smoking is not allowed in Town vehicles. Individuals who violate the statewide smoking ban may be subject to civil penalties under the law or may be subject to disciplinary action.
- 5.8 If an employee is unsure of the right action in any of these areas, please contact the Town Administrator's Office prior to taking action.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 28, 2024

#### POLICY NUMBER 6 SAFETY

- 6.1 <u>Policy</u>. The Town shall provide and maintain safe working conditions.
- 6.2 <u>Procedures</u>. As appropriate and in accordance with applicable Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) Standards, employees shall be provided with necessary safety equipment and clothing. Employees are required to wear and use safety equipment at all times while undertaking work for which the equipment is furnished. There shall be no exceptions.
- 6.3 <u>Responsibilities of Department Heads and Employees</u>
  - (a) Department Heads and supervisors shall: assume full responsibility for safe working areas; recommend or make correction of deficiencies noted in work procedures, facilities, safety clothing or equipment; ensure the availability and utilization of appropriate protective clothing and equipment; observe working conditions and field procedures to prevent possible safety hazards; investigate and report all accidents promptly to the Town Administrator.
  - (b) Each employee shall: observe all safety rules, operating procedures and safety practices; use protective equipment; report unsafe areas, conditions, or other safety problems; report all accidents/injuries immediately to the appropriate supervisor.
- 6.4 <u>Disciplinary Action</u>. Employees violating safety rules, practices or policies may be subject to disciplinary action.

#### POLICY NUMBER 7 TOWN MOTOR VEHICLE DRIVER POLICY

#### 7.1 Eligibility for Drivers to Operate Town Vehicles

One of the most important concerns of Town administration relative to Town-owned vehicles is the safety of its employees, the potential damage to Town vehicles, and the damage that can be done to the property of others. This activity has the greatest potential to cause severe injury and damage. It is the objective of this policy to design a driver selection and renewal system that is meaningful and realistic.

This policy is designed for employees driving Town vehicles and for those using their own vehicles on behalf of the Town. Each driver driving a Town vehicle must understand that as a result of vehicle accidents, recent court decisions have assessed punitive damages and/or criminal prosecution under the concept of "negligent entrustment" (permitting unsafe drivers to operate corporate vehicles). Although our objective is to help reduce the likelihood of such uninsured penalties from being assessed, we also hold most important the objective to keep our Town employees from getting hurt.

Each department will have different job standards, which reflect the prerequisites and skills necessary for satisfactory performance affording the opportunity to select the right person for the position. Selecting the best available driver will avoid many future problems.

The proper selection of drivers necessitates that various areas be carefully examined. Therefore, the Town will, at a minimum, mandate Motor Vehicle Record (MVR) checks for consideration of all new employees whose positions necessitate driving Town vehicles. At their discretion, department heads may request additional checks for all employees currently driving Town vehicles. This investigation shall be done to ascertain that all employees have a valid license and a good indication of potential ability to drive safely. MVR checks shall be performed by the Rehoboth Police Department.

The Town Administrator oversees implementation of this policy. Additionally, each department may wish to consider additional criteria relative to driver selection and/or retention, such as job analyses, medical examinations, drug screening and testing (mandatory for those employees whose positions require CDL licenses), road and/or written tests and driving performance evaluations. Department heads are responsible for ensuring any additional requirements are met and that MVR checks are performed.

The importance of proper driver selection, and the undesirable results which follow when a thorough job is not done, cannot be overemphasized. Violations of this policy will result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge based on the facts of each case. Specific criteria for any department shall be approved by the Personnel Board and the Appointing Authority before implementation.

#### 7.2 Operator Policy

- (a) To operate a vehicle of any type, an individual must have an appropriate, valid operator's license.
- (b) Every employee who operates a Town owned motor vehicle is required to report suspension or revocation of his/her license to his/her department head. Failure of an employee to report any change in license status will result in disciplinary action.
- (c) Operators of Town owned motor vehicles must report parking fines or other violation charges and payment thereof to their supervisor. All such fines and charges are to be paid promptly at the time they are incurred and are the responsibility of the vehicle operator. Excessive violations may be cause for the temporary or permanent revocation of authority to operate a Town-owned motor vehicle.
- (d) Operators must use a Town owned motor vehicle only for Town business and within the scope of the operator's employment/authority.
- (e) Operating a Town owned motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol or drugs is prohibited and means immediate dismissal.
- (f) Operators must observe all traffic laws, including but not limited to the following:
  - (1) Speeds must be kept within the limits, which are reasonably prudent for the existing driving conditions.
  - (2) Operators along with their passengers must wear safety belts.
- (g) Department Heads shall not allow any unauthorized person to drive a Town owned motor vehicle.
- (h) Original accident reports involving Town vehicles with a copy of the police report must be submitted to the Town Administrator within forty-eight (48) hours of an accident.
- (i) Smoking is prohibited in Town owned motor vehicles.
- (j) Before operating a Town owned motor vehicle, the operator is responsible for checking that the vehicle is in good operating condition and that all necessary safety equipment and control devices are in good condition. If the operator has any concerns about the safety or operation of the vehicle, their concerns should be reported to their supervisor.
- 7.3 Use of Town Owned Motor Vehicles
  - (a) Town owned motor vehicles shall be parked at sites owned, leased, or controlled by the Town unless the vehicle is used for commuting. Town owned motor vehicles shall be parked off the public street in a reasonably secure setting when used during business hours or when taken home by a commuter.

(b) Personal use of a Town owned motor vehicle by an authorized employee is allowable, but only if the use is *de minimus*. *De minimus* use pertains to the incidental personal use of a Town owned motor vehicle during the operator's travel on Town business; e.g., stopping briefly at a bank for personal reasons that is on the route of travel to or from work. Under Internal Revenue Service regulations, "de minimus" means "the value is so small as to make the accounting for it unreasonable or administratively impractical."

#### 7.4 Motor Vehicle Disciplinary Policy

- (a) Employees of the Town of Rehoboth are expected to comply with all safety requirements whether established by the Town or by federal, state, or local law.
- (b) A copy of the applicant's or the employee's driving record will be obtained from the Registry of Motor Vehicles for evaluation before he or she is allowed to operate a Town vehicle.
- (c) Based on accident/violation history, an individual's driving record becomes questionable if one or more of the following exists:
  - (1) Three (3) or more accidents reportable by law to the Registry of Motor Vehicles (regardless of fault) in the last three (3) years.
  - (2) One (1) or more Type A violations in the past three (3) years. Type A violations are: DWI (driving while intoxicated) DUI (driving under the influence) Negligent homicide Operating a vehicle during a period of suspension Aggravated assault with a motor vehicle Reckless driving Speed contest Permitting an unlicensed person to drive Hit and run
    (3) Any combination of accidents and Type B violations, which total three (3) or more in the last three (3) years. Type B violations are:
    - more in the last three (3) years. Type B violations are: Any moving violation, other than listed above Tailgating offense Open failure to appear in court.
- (d) If the applicant's or the employee's driving record is questionable, the Personnel Board/Officer will review with the Board of Selectmen who will make a determination to accept or not accept the applicant, or in the case of an employee, invoke discipline up to and including automatic termination.

Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 11, 2014

#### POLICY NUMBER 8 SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY

#### 8.1 Introduction

It is the goal of the Town of Rehoboth to promote a workplace that is free of sexual harassment. Sexual harassment of employees occurring in the workplace, or in any other settings in which employees may find themselves in connection with their employment, is unlawful and will not be tolerated. No employee, no matter his/her title or position, shall allow sexual harassment. Further, any retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment or retaliation against individuals for cooperating with an investigation of a sexual harassment complaint is similarly unlawful and will not be tolerated. To achieve our goal of providing a workplace free from sexual harassment, the conduct that is described in this policy will not be tolerated, and we have provided a procedure by which inappropriate conduct will be dealt with, if encountered by employees.

Because the Town of Rehoboth takes allegations of sexual harassment seriously, the Personnel Board will respond promptly to complaints of sexual harassment and, where it is determined that such inappropriate conduct has occurred, will act promptly to ensure corrective action is taken, including disciplinary action where appropriate.

Please note that while this policy sets forth the goal of promoting a workplace that is free of sexual harassment, the policy is not designed or intended to limit the Town's authority to discipline or take remedial action for workplace conduct which is deemed unacceptable, regardless of whether that conduct satisfies the definition of sexual harassment.

Per state law this policy must be distributed to all employees annually. Appropriate training must be undertaken to ensure this policy is understood and followed. Distribution of this policy and providing proper training of managers and employees are the responsibility of the Town Administrator.

- 8.2 <u>Definition of Sexual Harassment</u>. In Massachusetts, the legal definition for sexual harassment is this: *Sexual harassment* means sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:
  - (a) Submission to or rejection of such advances, requests or conduct is made explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of employment or as a basis for employment decisions; or when
  - (b) Such advances, requests or conduct have the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance by creating an intimidating and hostile, humiliating or sexually offensive work environment. Under these definitions, direct or implied requests by a supervisor for sexual favors in exchange for actual or promised job benefits such as favorable reviews, salary increases, promotions, increased benefits, or continued employment constitutes sexual harassment.

The legal definition of sexual harassment is broad, and in addition to the above examples, other sexually oriented conduct, whether it is intended or not, that is unwelcome and has the effect of creating a work place environment that is hostile, offensive, intimidating or humiliating to male or female workers may also constitute sexual harassment.

While it is not possible to list all those additional circumstances that may constitute sexual harassment, the following are some examples of conduct that, if unwelcome, may constitute sexual harassment depending upon the totality of the circumstances and including the severity of the conduct and its pervasiveness:

- (a) Unwelcome sexual advances, whether they involve physical touching or not;
- (b) Sexual epithets, jokes, written or oral references to sexual conduct, gossip regarding one's sex life;
- (c) Comments on an individual's body or about an individual's sexual activity, deficiencies, or prowess;
- (d) Displaying sexually suggestive objects, pictures, and cartoons;
- (e) Unwelcome leering, whistling, brushing against the body, sexual gestures, and suggestive or insulting comments;
- (f) Inquiries into one's sexual experiences; and,
- (g) Discussion of one's sexual activities.

All employees should take special note that, as stated above, retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment, and retaliation against individuals for cooperating with an investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, are unlawful and will not be tolerated by this organization.

- 8.3 Private Counseling Option. If an employee believes he/she is the victim of sexual harassment, in addition to the right to file a complaint, he/she may also seek advice from the Personnel Board. The board is available to discuss any concerns the employee may have and to provide information to the employee about the policy on sexual harassment and our complaint process. If the employee desires, the Board will work with him/her to find a way of resolving the concerns in an informal manner that would offer as much privacy and confidentiality as is possible. If this option does not resolve the complaint, the employee may proceed through the complaint procedure set forth in Complaints, below.
- 8.4 Complaints of Sexual Harassment. If any employee believes that he/she has been subjected to sexual harassment, the employee has the right to file a complaint. This may be done in writing or orally. The employee filing the complaint is not required to directly confront any persons who are the source of the problem or closely associated with the person who is the source of the problem. The employee is required to make a reasonable effort to bring forward any allegations of unlawful sexual harassment so that the Town may stop such wrongdoing and prevent future occurrences. The employee can choose to file the complaint with his/her supervisor, department head, Town Administrator or the Personnel Board.

#### 8.5 Sexual Harassment Investigation

When the complaint is received, the supervisor, department head, Town Administrator or the Personnel Board will promptly investigate the allegation in a fair and expeditious manner. The Town will make every effort to ensure that those named in the complaint, or who are too closely associated with those involved in the complaint, will not be part of the investigative team or efforts. The Town of Rehoboth can, at its discretion, utilize a neutral third-party investigator to address sexual harassment allegations.

The investigation will be conducted in such a way as to maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable under the circumstances. The investigation will include a private interview with the person filing the complaint and with witnesses. The person alleged to have committed sexual harassment will also be interviewed. When the investigation has been completed, to the extent appropriate, the person filing the complaint and the person alleged to have committed the harassment will be informed of the results of that investigation.

If the person filing the complaint is not satisfied with the decision, he/she may appeal the decision by contacting the Personnel Board. The Personnel Board and Personnel Officer are also available to discuss any other concerns the employee may have and to provide information about the policy on sexual harassment and the complaint process.

The Town recognizes that making false, bad faith accusations can have serious consequences for those who are wrongly accused. The Town prohibits deliberately making false accusations and or providing false information during an investigation. Policy violators are subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

If it is determined that inappropriate conduct has occurred, the Personnel Board will act promptly to ensure that steps are taken to eliminate the offending conduct, and where it is appropriate, that disciplinary action is taken.

- <u>8.6</u> <u>Disciplinary Action</u>. Any employee found to have acted inappropriately will be subject to disciplinary action. Such action may range from counseling to termination from employment, and may include such other forms of disciplinary action as deemed appropriate under the circumstances. Disciplinary action will be carried out and determined per the Discipline Personnel Policy.
- 8.7 State and Federal Remedies. In addition to the above, if the employee believes he/she has been subjected to sexual harassment, he/she may file a formal complaint with either or both of the government agencies set forth below. Using the Town of Rehoboth's complaint process does not prohibit the employee from filing a complaint with these agencies. Each of the agencies has a short time period for filing a claim of 300 days (amended 10-02).
  - The United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) 1 Congress Street - 10th Floor Boston, MA 02114 (617) 565-3200

2. The Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination (MCAD) Boston Office: Springfield Office: One Ashburton Place- Rm. 601 436 Dwight Street, Rm. 220 Boston, MA 02108 Springfield, MA 01103 (617) 994-6000 (413) 739- 2145

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

#### POLICY NUMBER 9 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

<u>9.1</u> <u>Applicability</u>. The Town of Rehoboth will comply with the Family and Medical Leave Act, implementing Federal Regulation 29 CFR Part 825 as revised effective February 6, 2013. The function of this policy is to provide employees with a general description of their FMLA rights. In the event of any conflict between this policy and the applicable law, employees will be afforded all rights required by law.

Under this policy, the Town of Rehoboth will grant up to 12 weeks (or up to 26 weeks of military caregiver leave to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness) during a 12-month period to eligible employees. The leave may be paid, unpaid or a combination of paid and unpaid leave, depending on the circumstances of the leave and as specified in this policy.

#### 9.2 Eligibility

To qualify to take family or medical leave under this policy, the employee must meet all of the following conditions:

- (a) The employee must have been employed for at least twelve (12) months (not necessarily consecutively). Separate periods of employment will be counted, provided that the break in service does not exceed seven years. Separate periods of employment will be counted if the break in service exceeds seven years due to National Guard or Reserve military service obligations or when there is a written agreement (including a collective bargaining agreement) stating the employer's intention to rehire the employee after the service break.
- (b) The employee must have worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period immediately before the date when the leave is requested to commence. The principles established under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) determine the number of hours worked by an employee. The FLSA does not include time spent on paid or unpaid leave as hours worked. Consequently, these hours of leave should not be counted in determining the 1,250 hours eligibility test for an employee under FMLA.

Eligible employees will be entitled to leave under this policy for any of the following qualifying reasons:

- (a) *FMLA*: A total of twelve (12) weeks of unpaid family and medical leave (during any "rolling" 12-month period) may be granted for the following reasons:
  - 1. The birth of a child and to care for the newborn child within one year of birth;
  - 2. The placement with the employee of a child for adoption or foster care and to care for the newly placed child within one year of placement;

- 3. To care for the employee's spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition;
- 4. A serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his or her job.
- (b) Exigency leave: A total of twelve (12) weeks of leave may be granted to an employee whose spouse, son, daughter or parent either has been notified of an impending call or order to covered active military duty or who is already on covered active duty for reasons related to or affected by the family member's call-up or service. The qualifying exigency must be one of the following:
  - 1. short-notice deployment,
  - 2. military events and activities,
  - 3. child care and school activities,
  - 4. financial and legal arrangements,
  - 5. counseling,
  - 6. rest and recuperation,
  - 7. post-deployment activities, or
  - 8. additional activities that arise out of active duty, provided that the employer and employee agree, including agreement on timing and duration of the leave.
- (c) *Military Caregiver Leave:* A total of twenty-six (26) weeks may be granted to an employee who is the spouse, son, daughter, parent or next of kin of a covered servicemember may in order to care for the servicemember who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness incurred or aggravated in the line of duty on active duty. This provision applies to the families of members of both the active duty and reserve components of the Armed Forces.
- (d) Spouses employed by the same employer: Spouses employed by the same employer may be limited to a combined total of 12 work weeks of family leave for the following reasons:
  - 1. Birth and care of a child;
  - 2. For the placement of a child for adoption or foster care, and to care for the newly placed child; and,
  - 3. To care for and employee's parent who has a serious health condition.

#### 9.3 General

(a) Family or medical leave will generally be unpaid leave. If leave is requested for an employee's own serious health condition, the employee must use all of his or her accrued paid vacation leave, sick leave or personal leave. If the leave requested is for any of the other reasons, an employee must use all of his or her accrued paid vacation or personal leave. The remainder of the leave period will then consist of unpaid leave. (b) In determining the 12-month period in which the 12 weeks of leave entitlement occurs, the Town will utilize the "rolling" 12-month period, which is measured backward from the date an employee uses any FMLA leave. Under the rolling method, each time an employee takes family and medical leave, the remaining leave entitlement will consist of any balance of the 12 weeks which has not been used during the immediately preceding 12 months. The following example is provided in the Federal FMLA regulations:

If an employee has taken eight weeks of leave during the past 12 months, an additional four weeks of leave could be taken. If an employee used four weeks beginning February 1, 1996, four weeks beginning June 1 1996, and four weeks beginning Dec 1, 1996, the employee would not be entitled to any additional leave until February 1, 1997. However, on February 1, 1997, the employee would be entitled to four weeks of leave, on June 1, 1997 the employee would be entitled to an additional four weeks, etc.

(c) For military caregiver leave, the Town will measure the 12-month period as a rolling 12-month period measured forward. FMLA leave already taken for other FMLA circumstances will be deducted from the total of 26 weeks available.

#### <u>9.4</u> Definitions

- (a) The Act broadly defines *son or daughter* to include any child for whom an employee has day-to-day responsibility, even if there is no biological or legal relationship to the child. A son or daughter must be under the age of 18, unless the child is incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability.
- (b) *Parent* includes anyone who stands in loco parentis to an employee.
- (c) *Serious health condition* any condition requiring inpatient care or continuing treatment by a health care provider.
- (d) *Health care provider* includes any licensed doctor of medicine or osteopathy or any other person determined by the Secretary of Labor to qualify.
- <u>9.5</u> <u>Application for Leave</u>. In all cases, an employee requesting leave must provide verbal or written notice of the need for the leave to his or her department head.

When the need for the leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide the employer with at least 30 days' notice. When an employee becomes aware of a need for FMLA leave less than 30 days in advance, the employee must provide notice of the need for the leave either the same day or the next business day. When the need for FMLA leave is not foreseeable, the employee must comply with the Town's usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent unusual circumstances.

Within five business days after the employee has provided this notice, the Town of Rehoboth will complete and provide the employee with the DOL Notice of Eligibility and Rights (http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-381.pdf).

Once all documentation has been received, the Town will complete and provide the employee with the DOL Designation Notice (<u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-382.pdf</u>). This form will be provided within five business days of receiving all documentation.

#### <u>9.6</u> <u>Certification of Leave</u>

- (a) An application for leave based on the serious health condition of the employee or the employee's family member must also be accompanied by the appropriate U.S. Department of Labor form (<u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-380-E.pdf</u> or http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-380-F.pdf) completed by the applicable health care provider.
- (b) An application for military exigency leave must also be accompanied by the appropriate U.S. Department of Labor form (<u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-384.pdf</u>) completed by the employee.
- (c) An application for military caregiver leave must also be accompanied by the appropriate U.S. Department of Labor form (<u>http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/WH-385.pdf</u>) completed by the employee.

#### 9.7 Benefits Coverage During Leave

- (a) During a period of family or medical leave, an employee will be retained under the same health plan he or she is enrolled in under the same conditions that applied before the leave commenced. To continue health coverage, the employee must continue to make any contributions that he or she made to the plan before taking leave. Failure of the employee to pay his or her share of the health insurance premium may result in loss of coverage.
- (b) If the employee fails to return to work after the expiration of the leave, the employee will be required to reimburse the Town for payment of the Town's portion of the health insurance premiums paid during the unpaid period of family leave, unless the reason the employee fails to return is the presence of a serious health condition which prevents the employee from performing his or her job or to circumstances beyond the employee's control.
- (c) An employee is not entitled to the accrual of any seniority or employment benefits that would have accrued if not for the taking of leave. An employee who takes family or medical leave will not lose any seniority or employment benefits that accrued before the date leave began.
- <u>9.8</u> <u>Restoration to Employment</u>. An employee eligible for family and medical leave with the exception of those employees designated as "key employees" as defined by the FMLA will be restored to his or her old position or to a position with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. The Town cannot guarantee that an employee will be returned to his or her original job. A determination as to whether a position is an

"equivalent position" will be made by the Personnel Officer. In the absence of a Personnel Officer the determination will be made by the Personnel Board.

- <u>9.9</u> <u>Return from Leave</u>. If an employee wishes to return to work prior to the expiration of a family or medical leave of absence, notification will be given to the employee's department head at least five (5) working days prior to the employee's planned return or as soon as practical. If an employee is on FLMA leave due to a serious health condition, the employee must submit medical documentation demonstrating that the employee can return to work.
- 9.10 Failure to Return from Leave. The failure of an employee to return to work upon the expiration of a family or medical leave of absence without a formal written request for extension will be treated as a resignation. An employee who requests an extension of family or medical leave must submit a request for an extension, in writing, to the employee's department head. This written request should be made as soon as the employee realizes that he or she will not be able to return at the expiration of the leave period.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

#### POLICY NUMBER 10 SMALL NECESSITIES LEAVE (SNLA OF 1998)

- 10.11 <u>Applicability</u>. All employees who meet the requirements of the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act as already described above in the Family and Medical Leave Policy.
- <u>10.12</u> <u>Policy</u>. The Massachusetts Small Necessities Leave Act (SNLA) provides eligible employees with a right to 24 hours of leave during any 12-month period, for the purposes of:
  - (a) Son or daughter of the employee, such as parent-teacher conferences or interviewing for a school;
  - (b) Accompanying the son or daughter of an employee to routine medical or dental appointments, such as check-ups or vaccinations; and
  - (c) Accompanying an elderly relative of the employee to routine medical or dental appointments or appointments for other professional services relating to the elder's care, such as interviewing at nursing or group homes.
- 10.13 Paid Leave. As with the Family and Medical Leave Act, employees may elect, or employers may require, employees to substitute accrued paid leave for the leave provided under the statute. The law does not, however, require an employer to provide paid leave where it otherwise would not so provide.
- <u>10.14</u> <u>The Small Necessities Leave Act</u> specifically addresses only the items outlined above. Leave under the Small Necessities Leave Act is in addition to the FMLA.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

# POLICY NUMBER 11 [Unused]

#### POLICY NUMBER 12 MASSACHUSETTS PARENTAL LEAVE (ACT OF APRIL 7, 2015)

- <u>12.15</u> Policy. Massachusetts Law provides some benefits after only 3 months of employment, as opposed to the 12 months required by the Federal FMLA. Pursuant to M.G.L. ch. 151B, Section 4(1) and c. 149, Section 105D, an employee is entitled to at least eight weeks of unpaid leave for:
  - (a) the purpose of giving birth;
  - (b) the placement of a child under the age of 18, or under the age of 23 if the child is mentally or physically disabled;
  - (c) adoption, with the employee adopting or intending to adopt; or
  - (d) the placement of a child with an employee pursuant to a court order.

Any two employees (spouses) of the Town shall only be entitled to 8 weeks of parental leave in aggregate for the birth, adoption, or placement of the same child.

- <u>12.16</u> <u>Applicability</u>. The employee is entitled to parental leave provided that:
  - (a) The employee has completed an initial probationary period set by the employer which does not exceed three months or, in the event the employer does not utilize a probationary period for the position in question, has been employed for at least three consecutive months; and,
  - (b) The employee provides at least two weeks' notice of the expected departure date and intention to return; or notice as soon as practical if the delay is for reasons beyond the individual's control.
- <u>12.16</u> Employee Rights. The employee is entitled to return to the same or a similar position without loss of employment benefits eligible on the date the leave commenced. (The guarantee of a same or similar position is subject to certain exceptions specified in M.G.L. ch. 149, section 105D.) Any employer policy or collective bargaining agreement, which provides for greater or additional benefits than those outlined in this notice, shall continue to apply.

#### Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

#### POLICY 13 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE

- 13.1 Introduction. The Town of Rehoboth will comply with the Domestic Violence Leave Act (M.G.L. ch. 149, §52E) by affording qualifying employees up to 15 days of unpaid leave during any 12-month period for the purpose of seeking or obtaining medical attention, counseling, victim services or legal assistance; securing housing; obtaining a protective order from a court; appearing in court or before a grand jury; meeting with a district attorney or other law enforcement official; attending child custody proceedings; or addressing any other issues directly related to the abusive behavior against the employee or family member of the employee.
- <u>13.2</u> <u>Employer obligations</u>. In accordance with the Domestic Violence Leave Act (DVLA), the Town will:
  - (a) Require that the employee exhaust all available leave (sick, personal, vacation, etc.) before accessing leave under the DVLA.
  - (b) Not take any negative action against an employee for taking an unscheduled absence if the employee, within 30 days from the unauthorized absence, or within 30 days from the last unauthorized absence in the instance of consecutive days of unauthorized absences, provides qualifying documentation.
  - (c) Notify the employee of the employee's rights and responsibilities, including those related to the employee's responsibility to notify the employer when taking leave and the employer's responsibility to keep information related to such leave confidential.
  - (d) Not request evidence of an arrest, conviction, or other law enforcement documentation for such abusive behavior.
  - (e) Keep confidential all information related to the employee's leave, except to the extent disclosure is requested or consented to, in writing, by the employee; ordered to be released by a court of competent jurisdiction; otherwise required by applicable state or federal law; required in the course of an investigation authorized by the attorney general; or necessary to protect the safety of the employee or others employed at the workplace.
  - (f) Will not maintain any documentation provided by the employee in the employee's employment record for longer than is required for the employer to make a determination whether the employee is eligible for leave under the DVLA.
  - (g) Not coerce, interfere with, restrain or deny the exercise of, or any attempt to exercise the rights provided, or make leave requested or taken under the DVLA, contingent upon whether or not the victim maintains contact with the alleged abuser.
  - (h) Not discharge or in any other manner discriminate against an employee for exercising the employee's rights under the DVLA.
  - (i) Give to the employee all benefits accrued prior to the date on which leave taken under the DVLA commenced; and upon the employee's return to work, restore the employee to the employee's original job or to an equivalent position.

- (j) Comply with all other general or special laws, including but not limited to G.L. c. 258B (concerning victims' rights) and G.L. c. 268, sec. 14B (concerning protection of victims or witnesses who appear in court).
- <u>13.3</u> <u>Employee Obligations</u>. If you are an employee of a covered entity, it is your responsibility to provide advanced notice in accordance with the employer's leave policy that you are requesting or you are taking leave under the DVLA, except that:
  - (a) In cases of imminent danger to your health or safety, or in cases of a threat of imminent danger to the health or safety of yourself or your family member, you must provide notice within 3 workdays that the leave was taken or being taken under the DVLA.
  - (b) This notice may be given to the employer by you, your family member, your counselor, social worker, health care worker, member of the clergy, shelter worker, legal advocate, or other professional who has assisted you in addressing the effects of the abusive behavior.

If required, you must provide documentation within a reasonable time evidencing that:

- (a) You are, or you have a family member who is, a victim of abusive behavior;
- (b) You are using the leave from work for a qualifying purpose; and
- (c) You are not the perpetrator of the abusive behavior against your family member.
- <u>13.4</u> Definitions
  - (a) *Qualifying employee* an employee who:
    - (1) Receives wages or any other remuneration;
    - (2) Is or has a family member who is a victim of abusive behavior;
    - (3) Is using the leave from work for a qualifying purpose; and
    - (4) Is not the perpetrator of the abusive behavior.
  - (b) *Family member*
    - (1) Parent, step-parent, child, step-child, sibling, grandparent, or grandchild;
    - (2) Married spouse;
    - (3) Persons in a substantive dating or engagement relationship and who reside together;
    - (4) Persons having a child in common regardless of whether they have ever married or resided together; or
    - (5) Persons in a guardian relationship.
  - (c) *Abusive behavior*, for the purposes of this type of leave, is defined as domestic violence, stalking, sexual assault, or kidnapping.
  - (d) *Qualifying document* any of the following:
    - (1) A protective order, order of equitable relief or other documentation issued by a court of competent jurisdiction as a result of abusive behavior against you or your family member.

- (2) A document under the letterhead of the court, provider or public agency which you attended for the purposes of acquiring assistance as it relates to the abusive behavior against you or your family member.
- (3) A police report or statement of a victim or witness provided to police, including a police incident report, documenting the abusive behavior complained of by you or your family member.
- (4) Documentation that the perpetrator of the abusive behavior against you or your family member has admitted to sufficient facts to support a finding of guilt of abusive behavior; or has been convicted of, or has been adjudicated a juvenile delinquent by reason of, any offense constituting abusive behavior and which is related to the abusive behavior that necessitated the leave under this section.
- (5) Medical documentation of treatment as a result of the abusive behavior complained of by you or your family member.
- (6) A sworn statement, signed under the penalties of perjury, provided by a counselor, social worker, health care worker, member of the clergy, shelter worker, legal advocate or other professional who has assisted you or your family member in addressing the effects of the abusive behavior.
- (7) A sworn statement signed by you under the penalties of perjury attesting that you have been or a family member has been the victim of abusive behavior.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 22, 2017

## POLICY NUMBER 14 REQUESTS FOR REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

- <u>14.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. It is the intent of the Town of Rehoboth to make its workplace equal for its applicants and employees. Circumstances may arise where reasonable accommodation for an applicant or employee is necessary to meet this objective.
- <u>14.2</u> <u>Accommodations</u>. The Town of Rehoboth will make reasonable accommodations (changes or exceptions to job routines, requirements, policies, and procedures, for example) when necessary or appropriate. What is considered a reasonable accommodation varies and is determined by a number of factors. All requests for accommodation will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis taking into consideration all known circumstances.
- 14.3 <u>Accommodations for Disability</u>. The Town of Rehoboth will provide reasonable accommodation to any qualified individual with a disability as required under federal, state, or local law. A *qualified individual* with a disability is any person who can perform the essential functions of a job or position with or without reasonable accommodation. *Disability* means, with respect to an individual, a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, having a record of such an impairment, or being regarded as having such an impairment. Major life activities can include caring for one's self, walking, seeing, speaking, working, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, standing, lifting, bending, or major bodily functions.
- 14.4 Other Accommodations. In addition to providing reasonable accommodation to persons with a disability, the Town of Rehoboth will also make a reasonable accommodation for the needs of employees to practice their religion. If another reason exists for asking for an accommodation, the Town of Rehoboth will consider it in the manner addressed in this policy.
- <u>14.5</u> <u>To Make an Accommodations Request</u>. A request for an accommodation shall be made by the employee to his/her supervisor, either verbally or in writing, but a written request is preferred. If you feel uncomfortable discussing your questions, suggestions, or concerns about this policy with your supervisor, you can direct them to the Town Administrator or to the Personnel Board.
- <u>14.6.</u> <u>Determination</u>. In making the determination, the precise limitations of job functions resulting from the disability, and the potential accommodation that the Town might make to help overcome those limitations, will be considered. The Town will also consider such factors as the nature and cost of the accommodation, the availability of tax credits and deductions, outside funding, overall financial resources, and the impact the accommodation may have on the operation of the Town, including its impact on the ability of other employees to perform their duties, as well as safety. All requests for accommodation will be evaluated considering all known circumstances. In determining

the employee's request the supervisor may ask for input from the town's Personnel Officer or Personnel Board.

The supervisor will notify the employee of the decision within a reasonable time, and if favorable, shall make sure that the Town provides the requested accommodation as soon as reasonably possible.

14.7 <u>ADA Coordinator</u>. The ADA Coordinator for the Town is responsible for coordinating the efforts of the Town to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 ("ADA") and related laws, and for investigating any complaints of violations. The ADA Coordinator also acts on issues involving employees as described in this policy.

#### <u>14.8</u> <u>Grievance Procedure under the Americans with Disabilities Act</u>

This grievance procedure for current employees is established to meet the requirements of the ADA. It may be used by any employee or job applicant who wishes to file a complaint alleging discrimination on the basis of disability.

An employee has the right to submit a formal grievance complaint to the Town under the Americans with Disabilities Act. Preferably the complaint should be in writing, although alternative methods of communication, such as a personal or telephone interview, email, or a tape recording are acceptable. The complaint should contain information about the alleged discrimination such as name of the employee and location, date, and description of the problem. The complaint should be submitted by the employee and/or his/her designee as soon as possible to the Town's ADA Coordinator, but no later than 60 calendar days after the alleged violation. Another person can be designated to serve in the ADA Coordinator role in his or her absence, or if the complaint directly concerns the ADA Coordinator.

Within 15 calendar days after receipt of the complaint, the ADA Coordinator will meet with the employee to discuss the complaint and the possible resolutions. The ADA Coordinator will conduct an investigation, involving appropriate Town staff and officials. When the investigation is complete and within 15 days of the meeting, the ADA Coordinator will communicate to the complainant the result of the investigation and any resolution.

If the response by the ADA Coordinator does not satisfactorily resolve the issue, the employee and/or his/her designee may appeal the decision within 15 calendar days after receipt of the response to the Board of Selectmen, addressed to the Chairperson of the Board of Selectmen. Within 15 calendar days after receipt of the appeal, the Chairperson or his/her designee will meet with the employee to discuss the complaint and possible resolutions. Within 15 calendar days after the meeting, the Chairperson or his/her designee will respond in writing, or, where appropriate, in a format accessible to the employee, with a final resolution of the complaint.

All written complaints received by the ADA Coordinator or his/her designee, appeals to the Chairperson of the Board of Selectmen or his/her designee, and responses from these two offices will be retained by the office of the Town Administrator for at least three years in a secure, confidential location separated from other records, and in accordance with the Personnel Policy on Employee Records.

#### 14.9 State and Federal Complaints

Any person who wishes to make a complaint of a violation of the ADA or Massachusetts General Laws Section 504, including a complaint of retaliation, may do so by contacting the Attorney General Office's ADA Coordinator.

ADA Coordinator Office of the Attorney General One Ashburton Place Boston, MA 02108

The United States government enforcement agency for the ADA and Section 504 is the U.S. Department of Justice. Complaints to that agency may be directed to:

United States Department of Justice Civil Rights Division 950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Disability Rights Section, NYA Washington, DC 20530 (202) 307-0663 (voice and TDD) Fax: (202) 307-1198

Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board January 23, 2019

## POLICY NUMBER 15 PREGNANT WORKERS FAIRNESS ACT

<u>15.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. The Town is committed to complying with the Massachusetts Pregnant Workers Fairness Act and to accommodating employee lactation needs.

### 15.2 Pregnant Workers Fairness Act

What the law does. The Pregnant Workers Fairness Act makes it unlawful for an employer in Massachusetts to discriminate against an employee due to pregnancy or a condition related to pregnancy including, but not limited to, lactation or the need to express breast milk for a nursing child. The law updates M.G.L. ch.151B, the Massachusetts antidiscrimination law, to include these new provisions.

Specifically, the law makes it unlawful to:

- (a) Take adverse action or retaliate against an employee who requests or uses a reasonable accommodation for pregnancy or related medical conditions. This includes, but is not limited to, failing to reinstate the employee to the original employment status or to an equivalent position with equivalent pay and accumulated seniority, retirement, fringe benefits and other applicable service credits when the need for reasonable accommodation ceases.
- (b) Deny an employment opportunity to an employee if the denial is based on the employee's pregnancy or related condition.
- (c) Require a pregnant employee or employee with a pregnancy-related condition to accept an accommodation that the employee chooses not to accept, if that accommodation is unnecessary to enable the employee to perform the essential functions of the job.
- (d) Require an employee to take leave if another reasonable accommodation may be provided without undue hardship to the employer.
- (e) Make pre-employment inquiry of a job applicant related to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related condition.

The law also sets up a process for a pregnant employee or pregnant prospective employee, or an employee or prospective employee with a pregnancy related condition, to engage with an employer in establishing reasonable accommodations. Upon the request of an accommodation from the employee or prospective employee, the employee and employer must engage in a timely, good-faith, and interactive process to determine an effective, reasonable accommodation to enable the employee to perform the essential functions of the position.

Reasonable accommodations. Under the law, reasonable accommodations include, but are not limited to:

- (a) More frequent or longer paid or unpaid breaks
- (b) Time off to attend to a pregnancy complication or recover from childbirth with or without pay

- (c) Acquisition or modification of equipment or seating
- (d) Temporary transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position
- (e) Job restructuring
- (f) Light duty
- (g) Break time and private non-bathroom space for expressing breast milk
- (h) Assistance with manual labor
- (i) Modified work schedule

The Town can only deny a reasonable accommodation for an employee's pregnancy or condition related to the employee's pregnancy, including but not limited to lactation or the need to express breast milk for a nursing child, if the Town can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the Town.

Undue Hardship. Under the law, the Town has the burden of proving undue hardship, which is defined as an action requiring significant difficulty or expense. In determining undue hardship, employers must consider the following factors:

- (a) The nature and cost of the needed accommodation
- (b) Overall financial resources of the employer
- (c) The overall size of the business of the employer with respect to the number of employees and the number, type and location of its facilities
- (d) The effect on expenses and resources or any other impact on the employer's program, enterprise or business

Documentation. The Town may require documentation about the need for a reasonable accommodation from an appropriate health care professional, unless it is for:

- (a) More frequent restroom, food or water breaks during pregnancy
- (b) Seating
- (c) Limits on lifting over 20 pounds
- (d) Private non-bathroom space for expressing breast milk

If an employee requests an extension of the originally agreed upon accommodation, the Town may require documentation.

The Town is required by law to distribute this written policy to employees. New employees will receive a copy at the commencement of employment. An employee who notifies the Human Resources Department of a pregnancy or a condition related to the employee's pregnancy shall receive a copy of this policy within 10 days.

<u>15.3</u> <u>Lactation Accommodation</u>. The Town will accommodate requests from employees who need to express breast milk or breast feed during the workday, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Policy (hereinafter, "covered employees") and in compliance with all applicable laws, including the Massachusetts Pregnant Workers Fairness Act.

#### Amount and Frequency of Time Needed

The Town will provide a covered employee with reasonable unpaid break time, or the opportunity to use her available paid break time or meal time, to express breast milk. The Town will provide a reasonable amount of break time to accommodate an employee desiring to express breast milk for the employee's child. If possible, nursing mothers should express breast milk during their regular rest or meal breaks. If the break time cannot run concurrently with rest or meal breaks already provided to the employee, the break time will be unpaid for non-exempt employees. If these additional breaks are required, the employee should work with her manager regarding scheduling.

The duration of a break can vary depending on the personal needs of the covered employee. Generally, each break shall be no less than twenty to thirty minutes. Employees can elect to take shorter breaks for this purpose. The number of breaks that a covered employee will need to take for expression purposes varies depending on the amount of time the employee is separated from the nursing infant and the employee's physical needs. The Town shall provide break time at least once every three hours if requested by the employee.

### Space and Facilities

The Town will provide a private, secure and safe Lactation Room to express milk or breast feed. A *lactation room*, as defined under this Policy, means a sanitary place, other than a restroom, that can be used to express breast milk shielded from view and free from intrusion, and that includes at a minimum:

- (a) An electrical outlet;
- (b) A chair;
- (c) A surface on which to place a breast pump and other personal items; and
- (d) Nearby access to running water.

Each lactation room shall be well lit at all times through either natural or artificial light. If the room has a window, it shall be covered with a curtain, blind, or other covering to ensure privacy. The Town must maintain the cleanliness of a lactation room set aside for the use of employees expressing breast milk at work. To ensure privacy, the room should have a door equipped with a functional lock. If a door with a functional lock is not available, a sign shall be posted advising that the room is in use and not accessible to other employees or the public.

A lactation room, and a refrigerator suitable for breast milk storage, shall be in reasonable proximity to such employee's work area (i.e., within a walking distance that does not appreciably lengthen the break time). The Town is not responsible for ensuring the safekeeping of expressed milk stored in any refrigerator on its premises. The employee is required to store all expressed milk in closed containers, regardless of the method of storage and to bring such milk home with her each evening.

Another room or location (such as a vacant office or other available room) also may be used as a lactation room, provided that the room/location otherwise accords to the standards set forth in this Policy. As a last resort, a cubicle may be made available as a lactation room, provided that the cubicle is fully enclosed with a partition, with walls at least seven feet tall, and otherwise accords to the standards set forth in this Policy.

If a room designated to serve as a lactation room is also used for another purpose, the sole function of the room shall be as a lactation room while the employee is using the room to express breast milk. When an employee is using the room to express milk, the Town shall provide notice to other employees that the room is given preference for use as a lactation room.

#### Anti-Discrimination

It is unlawful to discriminate in any way against an employee who chooses to exercise her rights with regard to breastfeeding and/or expression of breast milk in the workplace. Supervisors and co-workers are reminded to respect and be sensitive to an employee's choice to nurse.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 12, 2020

## POLICY NUMBER 16 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- <u>16.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. It is the policy of the Town that employees should have an opportunity, when appropriate and practical, to present their work-related complaints and to appeal management decisions through a formal grievance procedure. The Town will attempt to resolve promptly all grievances that are appropriate for handling under this policy.
- <u>16.2</u> <u>Appropriateness</u>. An appropriate grievance is defined as an employee's expressed feeling of dissatisfaction concerning any interpretation or application of a work-related policy by management, supervisors, or other employees. Examples of actions, which may be causes of grievances appropriate under this policy, include:
  - (a) Application of Town policies, practices, rules, regulations, and procedures believed to be to the detriment of an employee.
  - (b) Treatment considered unfair by an employee, such as coercion, reprisal, harassment, or intimidation.
  - (c) Alleged discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, religion, sex, veteran status, sexual orientation, ancestry, natural or protective hairstyle, or handicap.
  - (d) Improper or unfair administration of employee benefits or conditions of employment such as vacations, fringe benefits, promotions, retirement, holidays, performance reviews, salary or seniority.

## 16.3 Procedures

- (a) Employees must notify the Town in a timely fashion of any grievance appropriate for handling under this policy. The grievance procedure is the exclusive remedy for employees with appropriate grievances. As used in this policy, the terms *timely fashion, reasonable time,* and *promptly* will mean five (5) workdays.
- (b) Employees are not to be penalized for proper use of the grievance procedure. However, it is not considered proper if an employee abuses the procedure by raising grievances in bad faith, solely for the purposes of delay, harassment, or by repeatedly raising grievances that a reasonable person would judge to have no merit.
- (c) The grievance procedure has a maximum of three steps, but grievances may be resolved at any step in the process. Grievances are to be fully processed until the employee is satisfied or does not file a timely appeal or until the right to appeal is exhausted. A decision becomes binding on all parties whenever an employee does not file a timely appeal or when a decision is made in the final step and the right to appeal no longer exists.

<u>Step One</u>: The employee should promptly bring the grievance to the attention of his/her immediate supervisor, using the Employee Grievance Appeal Form (available from the Town Administrator's office). If the grievance involves the

supervisor, then it is permissible to proceed directly to step two. The supervisor is to investigate the grievance, attempt to resolve it, and respond in writing to the employee within a reasonable time. The written response must include a summary of the grievance, the proposed resolution, the date the grievance was filed, and the date of the supervisor's response.

<u>Step Two</u>: If the employee is not satisfied with the supervisor's response, he/she may appeal the decision to the department head. Such an appeal must be made in a timely fashion using the Employee Grievance Appeal Form. The supervisor is then to submit a similar written form providing his/her version of the grievance and decision. The department head will, in a timely fashion, confer with both the employee and the supervisor, and any other members of management he/she deems necessary, investigate the issues and communicate a decision in writing to all parties involved.

<u>Step Three</u>: If the employee is not satisfied with the department head's decision, he/she may appeal the decision to the Personnel Board and Appointing Authority in a timely fashion. The Personnel Board and Appointing Authority will take steps it deems necessary to review and investigate the grievance and will then issue a written, final and binding decision. (The Personnel Board and Appointing Authority may, at its discretion, conduct a formal hearing with all parties involved before reaching a final decision).

- <u>16.4</u> <u>Final Decisions</u>. Final decisions on grievances will not be precedent setting or binding on future grievances unless they are officially stated as Town policy. When appropriate, the decisions will be retroactive to the date of the employee's original grievance.
- <u>16.5</u> <u>Confidentiality</u>. Information concerning an employee grievance is to be held in strict confidence. Supervisors, Department Heads, and other members of management are to investigate and discuss a grievance only with those individuals who have a need to know about it or who are needed to supply necessary background information.
- <u>16.6</u> <u>During Working Hours</u>. Time spent by employees in grievance discussions with management during their normal working hours will be considered hours worked for pay.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

## POLICY NUMBER 17 EXIT INTERVIEW

- <u>17.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. Any employee who has successfully completed the probationary period and is leaving employment by the Town shall receive an exit interview. The Town Administrator, or the Administrator's designee, or a member of the Personnel Board will conduct the interview.
- <u>17.2</u> <u>Objectives</u>. The objectives of the exit interview are as follows:
  - (a) To identify the reason for an employee's resignation.
  - (b) To identify opportunities to improve working conditions, productivity, and morale.
  - (c) To retain the good will of the employee toward the Town.
  - (d) To discover any grievances or allegations of workplace risk or wrongdoing that the employee has, so that corrective action can be taken.
  - (e) To review administrative details with the employee such as benefits continuation, re-employment policy, and return of all town property.
- <u>17.3</u> Procedure
  - (a) When an employee announces his or her intention to leave, the department head should schedule an exit interview for the employee with the Town Administrator, which would normally take place on the employee's last day.
  - (b) There may be one or two interviewers. If an oral interview cannot be scheduled, or the employee requests it, the employee can alternatively complete a questionnaire in writing.
  - (c) All comments and conversation will remain as confidential as possible, while still allowing for a prompt and thorough investigation, should allegations of workplace wrongdoing be raised.
- <u>17.4</u> Interview Questions
  - (a) What caused you to first start looking for a different job?
  - (b) Specifically, what are the reasons you are leaving?
  - (c) Do you believe you were treated fairly while with the Town?
  - (d) Was your work appreciated and valued?
  - (e) What did you like about working here?
  - (f) What did you dislike about working here?
  - (g) Do you have any suggestions for improving working conditions, productivity, or morale?
  - (h) Comment on your working relationship with your supervisor. Was your supervisor respectful and supportive of you?
  - (i) Please describe frequency and type of communications you had with your supervisor.
  - (j) Did your supervisor clearly communicate goals and expectations to you?
  - (k) Did the benefit plans meet your needs? Are there other benefits that could have been offered?

- (l) Do you know of any unreported workplace-related accidents, injuries, or illnesses involving yourself or others?
- (m) Did you understand the Town's policies and reporting of grievance procedures?
- (n) Are there any other issues or concerns that we should be aware of?
- (o) Do you have any additional comments?
- <u>17.5</u> Follow-up
  - (a) The interview should be written up and included in the employee's personnel file.
  - (b) Utilize the information gathered in exit interviews to improve working conditions, productivity, and morale. Share information with those in the town that can implement change for the better of the Town and its employees.
  - (c) Follow up immediately on any allegations of workplace risk or wrongdoing by utilizing the Town's internal investigation procedures. If the allegations are valid, implement corrective actions as required to prevent future incidents or workplace wrongdoing.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

## **EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS**

## POLICY NUMBER 18 RECRUITMENT AND APPOINTMENT

- <u>18.1</u> Policy. The town shall make every effort to attract and employ qualified persons. Every person, regardless of race, creed, color, national origin, religion, sex, sexual orientation, ancestry, natural or protective hairstyle, veteran status, or handicap, applying for employment in the town, will receive equal treatment. Persons shall be recruited from a geographic area as wide as necessary to assure that qualified candidates apply for various positions. The recruitment, selection, and promotion of candidates and employees shall be based solely on job related criteria as established in the position descriptions and in accordance with proper human resource management practices.
- 18.2 <u>Recruitment</u>. Department heads shall have a major role in the recruitment and selection of personnel. The qualifications, classification and salary range of positions shall be established in accordance with the town's classification and compensation plans and any pertinent collective bargaining agreements.
  - (a) Notice of vacancies. Department heads, upon the identification of a vacancy or on the authorization of a new position within their respective departments, shall prepare a job vacancy notice. The job vacancy notice shall include: the job title, major duties of the position, qualifications, salary ranges, a closing date for applications, and applicant instructions. The Personnel Officer/Board shall review and approve all job notices prior to posting and/or advertisement. Recruitment for a position shall not begin until the job vacancy notice is approved by the Personnel Officer/Board.
  - (b) Posting and Advertisement of Job Vacancy Notices. Notices of vacant positions shall be posted for seven (7) business days on the bulletin board located in the town hall and on the bulletin boards in the individual departments where the vacancy exists prior to utilizing other recruitment methods. Advertising for entry level positions should be adequate to ensure that a sufficient number of qualified applicants apply for available vacancies.
  - (c) Applications. All candidates applying for employment in the town shall complete the town's official employment application form and return it to the Personnel Officer/Board prior to the end of the working day of the closing date specified for the position announcement. Each applicant shall sign the form. The applicant's signature certifies that all statements and information contained in the application are true. Any misstatement or omission can result in denial of or dismissal from employment.
  - (d) Method of Selection. A member of the Personnel Board, working in cooperation with the Board of Selectmen or their designee, shall establish any one or a combination of the selection procedures listed below in order to determine fairly, the capacity of the

persons examined to perform the duties of the position, provided that the method(s) used shall adequately reflect the applicant's ability to perform the essential functions of the job.

- 1. Written examination
- 2. Interview
- 3. Oral interview panel
- 4. Practical (or performance) test
- 5. Evaluation of experience and training

The Personnel Officer/Board, working in conjunction with the Board of Selectmen or their designee, shall also determine in each instance:

- 1. Whether the procedures used to screen all applicants shall be on a "qualified"/ "not qualified" basis or to form part of an over-all composite of the applicants' fitness and ability to perform in the position; and
- 2. When a combination of procedures is used, the relative weight to be assigned to each procedure.
- (e) References. A candidate's former employers, supervisors, and other references may be contacted as part of the selection process. References and other background investigations shall be documented and made part of the applicant's file. All reference checks and investigations shall be completed prior to the offer of employment.
- (f) Application Records. The application, reference checks, and related documents submitted by or obtained on behalf of the applicant shall be maintained by the Personnel Officer/Board for the period prescribed by law. The town shall maintain the confidentiality of the applications, except as prescribed by law.
- <u>18.3</u> <u>Appointment</u>. Final selections shall be forwarded to the Board of Selectmen or their designee in the form of a "Confirmation of Employment Offer" letter, which will be signed by the selection official and countersigned by the appointing authority. The Confirmation of Employment Offer letter shall include the starting date, the starting salary, and any conditions of employment not covered by these personnel policies. Copies of the employment letter shall be provided to the Personnel Officer/Board.
- <u>18.4</u> <u>Medical Examination</u>. All persons selected for employment with the town shall be provided a conditional offer of employment which shall require that they successfully pass a physical examination prior to commencing employment. The purpose of the examination is to determine the individual's ability to perform the essential duties of their position. In addition, a psychological examination may also be required as part of a conditional offer of employment for persons selected for appointment to specific positions within the Town.

<u>18.5</u> <u>Failure to Report</u>. An applicant who accepts an appointment and fails to report to work within five (5) working days after the starting date set, shall be deemed to have declined the appointment and the offer of employment shall be withdrawn.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

## POLICY NUMBER 19 ORIENTATION AND PROBATION

- <u>19.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. The Personnel Board and/or department head shall inform new employees of their rights, responsibilities, duties, and obligations.
- <u>19.2</u> <u>Orientation</u>. The department head shall, at a minimum:
  - (a) Notify the new employee of a starting date, time and designated location for starting work. If the new employee is subject to provisions of a collective bargaining agreement, the employee shall be provided with a copy of the agreement.
  - (b) Thoroughly explain all the benefits and options the employee is entitled to, and assist the employee with completion of appropriate forms. The department head shall provide the employee with a copy of the personnel policies.
  - (c) Provide on-site orientation regarding specific rules, regulations, policies and procedures of the employee's assigned department including the safety policies and procedures.
- <u>19.3</u> <u>Probationary Period</u>. The probationary period is an intrinsic part and extension of the employee selection process, allowing the supervisor and department head to train, observe and evaluate an employee's work performance and conduct in order to determine fitness for continuing in the position. All employees, whether new, rehired, or promoted, are required to serve a six (6) month probationary period. The probationary period shall be utilized to help new and promoted employees achieve effective performance standards. New and rehired employees will not be eligible to accrue or use paid sick leave, vacation, or any other form of paid absence except designated holidays.

The probationary period can be extended for a limited period only by approval of the Personnel Board, and only where it is deemed necessary and appropriate for the Town's interest or due to circumstances beyond the Town's or employee's control such as absence due to unforeseen events. In all cases of requests to extend an employee's probationary period, the supervisor or department head must submit a statement of the employee's current performance levels in assigned areas of responsibility, and justifications for the extension and the amount of time needed for the extension. No request for extension will be approved if submitted less than fifteen (15) working days from the date of the normal conclusion of the employee's probationary period.

(a) If, at the conclusion of the employee's probationary period, the employee's performance and employment conditions have been satisfactory in all respects in the opinion of the immediate supervisor or department head, and the advancement to regular full-time or part-time status is deemed mutually advantageous to the Town and the employee, such a retention recommendation is to be made to the hiring

authority and/or Personnel Board not sooner than thirty (30) nor less than ten (10) calendar days prior to the expiration of the probationary period.

Such a recommendation must be accompanied by a completed final probationary performance evaluation. Upon approval of the hiring authority, the employee shall then be advanced to regular employment status and thereby deemed eligible for those town benefits provided to regular employees. Should the probationary employee not be formally recommended for advancement to regular status as prescribed herein, the employee shall be considered unacceptable and released from the Town's service not later than the last day of the probationary period.

- (b) Employment may be terminated at the will and discretion of the Town at any time during the probationary period should such termination be regarded as necessary and appropriate by the Town. In cases of probationary release from the Town's service, formal advance notice by the Town is not required. Upon completion of the probationary period, when the employee is placed on regular full-time or regular parttime status, employment will remain, at all times, "at will," and the Town or the employee can terminate such at any time with or without notice.
- (c) A regular employee under promotional probation whose performance or other employment conditions are determined to be unsatisfactory during the probationary period will be reinstated to the former position or a comparable position, or released from Town service, the determination of which shall be at the sole discretion of the Town. If no action to remove or demote the employee to a previously held or comparable position is taken prior to the expiration of the six-month probationary period, the employee shall gain regular status in the position to which promoted and may subsequently be removed only for cause in accordance with the Discipline Policy.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 22, 2017

### POLICY NUMBER 20 PROMOTIONS

- <u>20.1</u> <u>Promotions Defined</u>. A promotion shall be defined as a change to a position of higher level of duties, responsibilities, and/or skill level.
- <u>20.2</u> <u>Hiring Policies</u>. Vacancies occurring in positions in the town service shall, whenever possible, be filled by promotions of qualified employees of the town.
- 20.3 <u>Eligibility Requirements</u>. If the selection official determines that the vacancy can be filled by an employee from within the town service, then the selection process for a promotional appointment shall be open to all regular employees in the next lower position in the same class, or in a similar class provided such employees meet the minimum requirements for the job, are not on probation or in a performance evaluation period, and have not been disciplined within the last twelve months.
- <u>20.4</u> <u>Notification</u>. Notices of promotional opportunities shall be posted on the town hall bulletin board and on the bulletin boards in the individual departments for seven (7) business days prior to utilizing other recruitment methods.
- 20.5 <u>Methods of Selection (Promotional Level)</u>. The Personnel Board, working in cooperation with the selection official, shall establish any one or a combination of the following selection procedures in order to determine the candidate's ability to perform in the higher-level position:
  - (a) Interview
  - (b) Interview panel
  - (c) Written Examination
  - (d) Practical test
  - (e) Evaluation of past performance

The Personnel Board, after consultation with the selection official, shall determine the criteria to qualify a candidate for promotion and the relative weight of each procedure if a combination of procedures is used.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

## POLICY NUMBER 21 TRAINING AND EDUCATION

- <u>21.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. It is the Town's policy to support and encourage employee training and professional development.
- 21.2 Eligibility. All employees are eligible to participate in education, training, and professional development programs. Some training is considered mandatory by law, by Town directive, or as a department requirement. Additional optional training and education is encouraged, but must be approved by the department head with consideration to the department's operating requirements and budget. Employees who have not completed their probationary period may not be eligible for some programs.

## 21.3 Types of Training Supported.

- (a) Training that is required by law or is considered mandatory by the Town. An example of training that is required by law is conflict of interest training. Examples of mandatory training include sexual harassment training (Personnel Policy 10.0) and workplace violence training (Personnel Policy 33.0).
- (b) Training or education that is necessary to acquire or maintain a license or certification that is a requirement of the job description.
- (c) Training or development activities that are job related, benefit the Town, and are part of a training and development plan developed by the supervisor and the employee.
- (d) Training and education may take the form of course work, seminars, conventions, professional workshops, or participation in professional associations. They may be on-site, off-site, or on-line.
- 21.4 <u>Approval of Training Programs</u>. All training and job development activities requiring financial contributions by the Town are subject to the availability of funds and the department's budget. It is the department head's responsibility to ensure the department budget is coordinated with the employees' development, training and certification plans. The Town will pay for training to attain a certification that is required by the employee's job description. The decision to appropriate membership dues shall be made as part of the budgetary process.

- 21.5 <u>Training Records</u>. In general it is the department head's responsibility to ensure that the employee's training records and certifications are transmitted to the Town Administrator so that they can be included in the employee's personnel file. Special cases, however, are as follows:
  - (a) The Town Clerk is responsible for keeping records of Conflict of Interest training.
  - (b) The Town Administrator is responsible for keeping records of any additional training that is required of elected or appointed town officials, volunteers, or others.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 22, 2017

### POLICY NUMBER 22 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION SYSTEM

- 22.1 Policy. The performance evaluation system is intended to provide a formal opportunity for two-way communication between the employee and his or her supervisor. The employee is expected to provide input for discussion, and the supervisor is expected to respond to the employee's input as well as to provide feedback on the employee's performance. Performance evaluations provide information for the continuous improvement of performance in relation to the expectations of the position.
- 22.2 <u>Review Frequency</u>. All employees shall participate in a performance review annually. Performance reviews will be done during January and February, with the first step to occur no later than January 15. It is the supervisor's responsibility to ensure this occurs.

### 22.3 Procedure

**Step One:** The supervisor gives a prepared copy of the review form to the employee along with the job description for the position being reviewed. The standard review form is found at the end of this policy.

- (a) The first section of the review form is used to describe the employee's performance in three general categories. The supervisor leaves these blank, initially.
- (b) The form also has a place for additional categories specific to the particular job. The supervisor should decide on at least one or two specific additional categories considered important for the job by reviewing the "Essential Duties and Responsibilities" and "Necessary Knowledge, Skills, and Abilities" sections of the job description. The supervisor will then add the appropriate category names into the spaces provided on the form; more spaces can be added if desired.

**Step Two:** The employee performs a self-assessment by completing appropriate parts of the prepared review form. The employee should make sure to note any topics that she/he would like to address in the discussion that will occur later with the supervisor. He/she should also describe any accomplishments, and/or the achievement of goals established in a previous review. Within ten days of receipt, the employee returns the completed self-assessment to the supervisor for review.

**Step Three:** After reviewing the employee's input, the supervisor provides her/his evaluation and comments on a new review form. The form previously filled out by the employee should be attached for reference along with the job description. No more than ten days after receiving the employee's self-assessment (Step Two), the supervisor sets up a meeting with the employee to discuss the review, as well as additional topics identified by the employee.

**Step Four:** After the discussion the employee can add or submit any additional comments if desired. Any written responses shall be affixed to the Evaluation.

**Step Five:** The employee and supervisor both sign the final Evaluation where indicated. The supervisor forwards the Evaluation packet to the department head for review. The department head signs and forwards it to the Town Administrator for review and inclusion in the employee's personnel file.

- 22.4 <u>Accomplishments</u>. When writing the self-assessment, the employee should describe all relevant accomplishments and achievements of the previous period. Take as much space as necessary, and feel free to attach an additional sheet. The supervisor can then use this information as appropriate when describing the employee's accomplishments.
- 22.5 <u>Progress on Goals</u>. This section is used to detail the results on goals established in the previous review period. Describe whether the goals were achieved on time, level of completion, and quality of the effort.
- 22.6 <u>Setting Goals</u>. When writing the self-assessment, the employee should propose at least three goals to be achieved in the following period. Later in the review meeting with the supervisor, these goals can be refined, modified, or replaced with agreement of both the employee and supervisor. Goals should be established using the "SMART" system:

Specific – goals must be clear and unambiguous
 Measurable – results must be measurable in some way
 Attainable – goals must be realistic and attainable by the average employee
 Relevant – goals must relate to your department's mission
 Time-bound – goals must have a definite starting and ending point.
 Success in achieving the goals will be assessed in the next performance review.

- 22.7 <u>Additional Topics for Discussion</u>. This section can be used by the employee to identify any issues he/she would like to discuss with the supervisor. The supervisor can also use this section to discuss any issue not covered in other sections of the review. Topic might include: opportunity for employee development, unusual challenges in the coming period, safety issues, workplace improvement suggestions, etc.
- <u>22.8 Job Description</u>. A copy of the job description should accompany the review form throughout the review process. If the job description requires updating, it is the supervisor's responsibility to update it. Please contact the Personnel Board or Town Administrator for assistance.

22.9 <u>Comments</u>. In this section the employee is given the opportunity to further comment after the supervisor's written evaluation is received and the discussion is complete. The supervisor's section is used to comment if necessary on any additional issues brought up by the employee during the review process.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board January 23, 2019

## HOURS OF WORK / RATES OF PAY

## POLICY NUMBER 23 CLASSIFICATION PLAN

- 23.1 Policy. The policy of the town is to establish and provide a uniform system for classifying all positions and to establish proper relationships between positions based on the level of responsibilities assumed and the minimum qualifications required to perform the job. The complete classification plan shall be so arranged that all positions that are substantially similar with respect to authority, responsibility and character of work are included within the same class and that the pay schedules can be made to apply with equity under like working conditions.
- 23.2 <u>Contents of the Classification Plan</u>. The classification plan shall consist of the following:
  - (a) Position descriptions. Position descriptions for positions, which are similar in duties, degree of difficulty and level of responsibility so that each position in the class can
     1) be given the same job title;
    - 2) require essentially the same training and experience;
    - 3) be filled by substantially the same methods of selection; and
    - 4) carry the same relative value and therefore deserving the same range of compensation.

Each position shall have a written position description. The description shall consist of a statement describing the nature of the work, examples of typical duties, the required minimum knowledge, skills, training, abilities, experience and necessary special qualifications.

Position descriptions are intended to be representative of the positions in a class and provide illustrations of the type of work performed, and do not necessarily include all duties to be performed. Position descriptions are not intended to be restrictive. Qualification statements in each position description establish desirable minimum requirements that should be met by a person before appointment, transfer, or promotion to a position in the class.

- (b) Position Titles. The title of each class of positions shall be the official title of every position allocated to the class, and shall be used for administrative purposes such as payroll, budget, financial and personnel forms and records. No person shall be appointed or promoted to any position in the town under a title not included in the classification plan.
- <u>23.3</u> <u>Responsibility</u>. The Personnel Officer shall have the responsibility for the administration and day-to-day maintenance of the classification plan and is authorized to:

- (a) Complete studies of proposed new positions and make recommendations to the Personnel Board on: allocations to existing classes; reestablishment of a former class; establishment of a new class of positions; or deletion of a class of positions.
- (b) Provide for studies of existing positions when there has been substantial change in the duties and responsibilities, which justify consideration of possible reclassification.
- (c) Conduct periodic studies and request such assistance as may be needed from Department Heads to assure that the classification plan remains uniform and current.
- (d) Require the submission of position questionnaires or any other related information when considered necessary for the proper maintenance of the plan.
- (e) Develop forms and procedures to determine the proper classification of each position.
- (f) Make routine revisions to class description contents such as deletions of illustrative tasks.
- 23.4 <u>Classification of New Positions</u>: The Department Head proposing the creation of a new position shall provide the Personnel Officer and the Board of Selectmen with a description of the duties, knowledge, skills and abilities, and other work performance requirements of a proposed position in sufficient detail to enable the Boards to make the appropriate classification. Final approval of the new position lies with the Personnel Board and the Appointing Authority subject to budgetary approval at Town Meeting.
- 23.5 <u>Reclassification of Positions and Periodic Reviews</u>. Positions may not be reclassified without a review and approval of the Personnel Board. The Personnel Officer shall review all positions subject to the classification plan in accordance with proper human resource management practices.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 3, 2004

## POLICY NUMBER 24 COMPENSATION PLAN

- 24.1 Policy. The Personnel Board shall periodically recommend to Town Meeting a change in the existing Classification Plan. The Compensation Plan shall be directly related to the Classification Plan and shall consider: relative responsibilities between various classes; wage rates for comparative type of work; economic conditions in the labor market; and fiscal policies of the Town; and shall incorporate all ratified labor agreements. All employees shall be paid in accordance with the rates in the Compensation Plan.
- <u>24.2</u> <u>Rates of pay</u>. All employees shall be employed and paid in accordance with rates established in the Compensation Plan for the position classification to which the appointment is made.
- 24.3 Responsibility
  - (a) The Personnel Officer shall have the responsibility for the day-to-day administration of the Compensation Plan.
  - (b) The Personnel Board will approve all hiring rates, merit increases, salary adjustments, and other payroll changes in accordance with the provisions of these rules, subject to budget allocations determined at Town Meeting.
- <u>24.4</u> <u>Merit Increases</u>. An employee shall be eligible for merit increases based on the procedures outlined in the Performance Evaluation System Policy.
- <u>24.5</u> <u>Promotion</u>. An employee who receives a promotion shall be placed on the new salary range at the salary/wage closest to but higher than what he/she is currently earning, subject to the approval of the Personnel Board.
- <u>24.6</u> <u>Notice of Employment</u>. Appointing authorities shall notify the Personnel Officer of all persons employed, the classification, and the rate of compensation.
- 24.7 <u>Part-Time Employees</u>. A part-time employee shall be compensated at the proper hourly rate for the appropriate classification; or in the absence of a specified hourly rate, at a pro-rated rate for the appropriate occupation for the part of the full-time normal workweek actually worked by the part-time employee.
- 24.8 <u>Temporary Employees</u>. The Personnel Board will set the wage scale for temporary employees based on qualifications and responsibilities. The wages will not be set below the minimum wage scale nor higher than the entry-level wages of the position. Temporary employees are not eligible for wage increases.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 3, 2004

## POLICY NUMBER 25 GENERAL HOURS OF WORK AND ATTENDANCE

- <u>25.1</u> <u>Hours of Work</u>. Non-exempt employees, regardless of employment status, shall work hours assigned by the appropriate department head based on operating conditions and requirements of the department.
- 25.2 <u>Attendance</u>. Consistent attendance and punctuality are considered imperative elements in the Town's business operations, and therefore, are an integral part of each employee's performance standards based on objective measurements. Poor, uncertain, or irregular attendance is disruptive to the Town's operations, lowers overall productivity and continuity of work, and is often burdensome to other employees.
  - (a) Employees are expected and required to report to their designated work locations at the prescribed time work activity is to commence. Tardiness, unexcused absence, or failure to report as required may result in disciplinary action. In the event an employee cannot report to work as scheduled, the employee or a member of the employee's immediate family must so notify the immediate supervisor or department head at least one hour prior to the scheduled reporting time, or be prepared to provide evidence of extenuating circumstances. In all cases of an employee's absence or tardiness, the employee shall provide the supervisor with a truthful reason for the absence and, if applicable, the probable duration of absence. If circumstances render the absence duration speculative or unknown, the absent employee will be required to call the supervisor daily to report the status of the absence.
  - (b) Excessive absenteeism, regardless of reason(s), which renders an employee insufficiently available for work will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to determine the merits of correctional retention or termination.
- 25.3 <u>Unauthorized Absence</u>. An employee who is absent from his/her assigned work location or schedule without official leave approval from the immediate supervisor or department head for three (3) or more days shall be considered absent without authorized leave. In such cases, the Town shall regard the job as abandoned and the employee automatically terminated, unless the employee can provide the Town with acceptable and verifiable evidence of extenuating circumstances.
  - (a) Employees who are absent without notice or authorization for less than three (3) days, and who subsequently report to work, shall provide a detailed written reason for such absence and, regardless of stated reason(s), may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
  - (b) Unauthorized leave or unexcused absence will not be compensated in any form by the Town, including town sponsored employment benefits.
- 25.4 Overtime, Callback, and Emergency Work Hours. As business or specific operational needs of the Town dictate, it may become periodically necessary for employees to be available for work beyond their daily or weekly work schedule, or to return to work after departing the work premises, following completion of their normal work schedule. Either

an extension of the workday or a resumption of work activity prior to the next scheduled workday may be treated as overtime for the purpose of non-exempt employee pay calculations, depending on the number of actual hours worked during the applicable day or workweek.

Should an emergency occur, the nature of which affects the normal business operations of the Town, employees may be required to work unusual or reduced schedules, or they may be laid off indefinitely because of work disruption. For reasons of potential emergency situations, all employees must keep the Town advised of a current address, phone number, message phone number, and a person to contact in case of personal emergency.

25.5 <u>Work Schedule Exchanges</u>. The exchanging of workdays is generally discouraged because of its inherent disruptive effect on record keeping and the continuity of work progress. However, under circumstances where an employee can demonstrate a legitimate reason for exchanging a work schedule with another agreeable employee, and where the affected supervisory personnel approve of the exchange, such exchanges may be authorized on a limited basis. Under no circumstances will exchange work schedules be authorized if the exchange is likely to result in a disruption or interference of the work unit operations or in overtime for either employee.

Employees wishing to have a work schedule exchange considered must submit a written request stating the dates and times of the exchange, the exchange employees involved, the reason(s) for the exchange, and the date and signature of both employees. Such a written request must be submitted to the affected supervisor not later than five (5) working days before the requested exchange, whereupon, the supervisor will respond with approval or disapproval in a timely manner. Should the request be disapproved, the supervisor should note the reason(s) on the employee's written request and retain a copy in the employee's official personnel file.

- 25.6 Overtime Compensation. All non-exempt employees are eligible to receive overtime compensation at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times their regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek in accordance with federal law. Employees classified as executive, administrative or professional based on legal definitions contained in the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) are exempt from overtime pay and therefore are not covered by this policy.
  - (a) All overtime worked by non-exempt employees must be approved in advance by the employee's supervisor. Overtime hours worked without prior supervisory approval may be regarded as a violation of Town policy and therefore subject to disciplinary measures.
  - (b) Employees who work approved overtime will record such overtime on their time sheet rounded to the nearest quarter of an hour. Overtime pay will be calculated on the basis of actual hours worked over forty (40) hours in a work week; therefore, paid time off such as vacation, sick leave, and holidays do not count as hours worked for the purpose of determining overtime pay eligibility.

- <u>25.7</u> <u>Compensatory Time Off.</u> Non-exempt employees may take compensatory time off in lieu of overtime hours worked under the following conditions:
  - (a) The determination as to whether an employee will receive pay or paid time off shall be made by the employee based on supervisory approval.
  - (b) Compensatory time off (CTO) will be earned at the rate of one and one-half hour for each hour worked up to a maximum sixteen (16) hours per workweek, beyond which the overtime will be treated as regular overtime pay.
  - (c) Accrued CTO hours must be taken by the employee, with approval of supervisory personnel, in the same month it is earned. End of month balances of CTO hours will be converted to regular overtime pay.
  - (d) Earned overtime hours to be taken as CTO must be reported by the employee to supervisory personnel, and the supervisors must record the use of CTO hours on the employee's time sheet for payroll purposes.
  - (e) In calculating an employee's overtime pay, CTO will be treated as paid time not worked.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board August 27, 2013

## POLICY NUMBER 26 INTERIM ASSIGNMENT PAY

- <u>26.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. It is the policy of the Town to compensate employees who are required to temporarily perform work in a higher position if the work includes those factors that determine pay differentiation between job grades. The principle for temporary additional compensation for performing higher-level job responsibilities due to necessity is based on such considerations as:
  - (a) The employee's ability and qualifications to perform the higher-level job responsibilities.
  - (b) If the work is routine the employee would not be eligible for higher compensation.
  - (c) The length of time necessary for the employee to perform at the higher-level job.
- <u>26.2</u> <u>Authorization</u>. Authorization for an assignment to work in a higher-level position must be given in writing by the department head and forwarded through the Town Administrator for recommendation to the Board of Selectmen for approval/disapproval. The following shall prevail as the conditions of compensation for work in a higher-level position:
  - (a) Compensation in excess of an employee's base rate of pay will not be authorized unless the employee is in all respects qualified to perform in the higher-level position and required to perform at least a substantial range of the more essential tasks of the higher-level position. Eligible employees shall receive additional compensation for the actual period of time assigned to the higher-level position provided the initial assignment is for a period in excess of ten (10) work days (an employee who is initially assigned to a higher-level position for a period of less than ten days and is subsequently extended up to and beyond ten days will be compensated from the first day of the assignment). However, if an employee is temporarily assigned to perform in a higher-level position, but such assigned duties are generally within the scope of his/her regular position, additional compensation will be considered unwarranted.
  - (b) Higher-level position work assignments shall not have any application toward timein position considerations such as merit increases, promotions, layoffs, or the like.
- <u>26.3</u> <u>Alternative</u>. Typically, if no appropriate employee is available to perform the duties of the higher-level position, the department head (or appointing authority if the higher-level position is that of a department head) will be expected to assume the major responsibilities of the position.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 22, 2017

## POLICY NUMBER 27 UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

27.1 Policy. Department heads, with the concurrence of the Personnel Board and the approval of the Board of Selectmen, may grant leaves of absence, not to exceed twelve (12) months, without compensation. At the expiration of such leave, the employee shall return to the same or a similar position. Failure of the employee to report for duty promptly at the expiration of such leaves shall be considered an automatic resignation. During a leave without pay, no vacation or sick leave credits will accrue nor will the period of absence be used to reach a higher level of seniority or benefits.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 24, 2013

## POLICY NUMBER 28 VOLUNTEERS

- 28.1 <u>Overview</u>. Appointed or elected volunteers serve on a range of boards and committees. Volunteers can also provide services in town departments. Because volunteers are like town employees in certain aspects but not others, it is useful to list key responsibilities and rights in the Rehoboth Personnel Policies.
- 28.2 <u>Definitions</u>. Rehoboth's volunteers perform services for the Town, a governmental entity, without compensation other than reimbursement for actual expenses incurred (if offered). State and federal laws apply to volunteering in Rehoboth. Volunteers, as covered in this policy, are appointed to specific roles or positions. This policy does not cover citizens' unofficial participation in or attendance at town events or activities like cleanups, parades, meetings, fairs, or concerts.
- 28.3 <u>Objectives for Involving Volunteers</u>. Volunteers provide Rehoboth with valuable expertise across many areas of responsibility of the Town's boards, committees, and departments. Volunteers extend limited Town resources to provide more services. Citizen involvement makes for better government.
- 28.4 <u>Recruitment and Selection</u>. Volunteers are sought in open processes. They are officially selected and their appointments are recorded. Most members of town committees and boards are appointed by the Selectmen or elected by town voters. Permission of a parent is required for volunteers under 18 years of age.
- 28.5 <u>Management</u>. Department heads or Selectman liaisons are responsible for the volunteers serving under them. Volunteers in Town departments are managed by department heads or by others named to do so within the department. Volunteers are subject to applicable requirements and standards; they receive orientation or training for their roles and for any special issues such as compliance or safety; and they comply with applicable state protocols and requirements (such as ethics and open meeting rules). Volunteers will be subject to background checks if that is the policy of the unit appointing them.
- 28.6 <u>Evaluating and Recognizing Volunteers</u>. The Town recognizes the contributions that its volunteers make through the town website, in appropriate media, and in publications such as Rehoboth Annual Reports. Volunteers serve at the pleasure of their appointing authority.
- <u>28.7</u> <u>Codes of Conduct</u>. Volunteers represent the Town to its citizens as do town employees and officials. Therefore, volunteers should adhere to the town codes of conduct for employees or other representatives of the town, as is appropriate for their roles.

28.8 <u>Records</u>. Board and committee appointments are recorded officially and listed in Rehoboth Annual Reports. Actions of boards and committees are recorded in official minutes. Appointments and activities of departmental volunteers are recorded in their department's records and/or the office of the Town Administrator.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 12, 2020

### BENEFITS

## POLICY NUMBER 29 OVERVIEW OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

#### 29.1 Standard Benefits for Regular Full-Time Employees

- (a) Holidays
- (b) Vacation Leave
- (c) Personal Leave
- (d) Sick Leave
- (e) Bereavement Leave
- (f) Military Leave
- (g) Jury Duty
- (h) Mileage Reimbursement
- <u>29.2</u> <u>Optional Benefits</u>. These optional benefits are available for full-time employees and parttime employees who are scheduled to work 20 or more hours per week for at least 30 weeks per year. All optional benefits except life insurance require a contribution from the employee. Note that the employee must apply for these benefits and fill out the appropriate paperwork.
  - (a) Health Insurance (partially paid by the Town)
  - (b) Dental Insurance
  - (c) Life Insurance (fully paid by the Town)
  - (d) Short Term Disability Insurance
  - (e) Retirement Savings Plan (457 Deferred Compensation Plan)
- 29.3 Standard Benefits for Part-time Employees
  - (a) All regular part-time employees are eligible for sick leave, vacation leave, and personal leave, with the number of days received reduced by the ratio of the number of hours worked per week vs. forty hours. All part-time employees are eligible for bereavement leave, military leave, and mileage reimbursement.
  - (b) Part-time employees are eligible for holiday pay if the holiday falls on a day that they are normally scheduled to work. If the employee does not maintain a fixed schedule, or is an "on-call" employee, then the employee is not eligible for holiday pay, and is not eligible for pay if the employee's department is closed for unanticipated circumstances (snow for example).
- <u>29.4</u> <u>Temporary Employees</u>. Temporary employees are not eligible for any benefits, but must contribute to the OBRA retirement plan.
- <u>29.5</u> <u>Pension Plan</u>. Contribution to a retirement plan is mandatory since municipal employees are not eligible for Social Security.
  - (a) Full-time employees contribute to the Bristol County Retirement Plan.

- (b) Part-time employees who work twenty (20) or more hours per week contribute to the Bristol County Retirement Plan.
- (c) Other part-time and temporary employees contribute to OBRA (Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act).

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board January 23, 2019

## POLICY NUMBER 30 HOLIDAYS

<u>30.1</u> <u>Recognized Holidays</u>. The following holidays shall be recognized by the town on the day on which they are legally observed in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. On these days employees, without loss of pay, shall be excused from all duties except those cases where the department head determines that the employee is required to maintain essential town services or by the terms of a bargaining agreement:

New Year's Day	Labor Day
Martin Luther King Day	Columbus Day
Presidents Day	Veterans Day
Patriots Day	Thanksgiving Day
Good Friday	Day after Thanksgiving
Memorial Day	1/2 - whole day before Christmas
Juneteenth	Christmas Day
Independence Day	1/2 Day before New Year's Day

- 30.2 Special Circumstances. Whenever any of the above named holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the preceding Friday, in the case of a Saturday holiday and the following Monday, in the case of a Sunday holiday, shall be recognized as the holiday for the purpose of time off. (In the event that Christmas falls on a Sunday, the 1/2-day absence will occur on Friday.) In the event that a holiday falls within the time spent on vacation leave, the employee shall be allowed one additional day of leave.
- <u>30.3</u> <u>Terms of Holiday Pay</u>. Holiday pay shall be granted as follows:
  - (a) An employee paid on an hourly basis shall receive one day's pay at the regular rate of the employee based on the number of hours regularly scheduled to work on the day on which the designated holiday occurs.
  - (b) An employee paid on a salary basis shall be granted each holiday without loss of pay.
  - (c) If the employee works on a holiday, the employee shall be entitled to comparable compensatory time off.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board August 27, 2013

### POLICY NUMBER 31 VACATION

- <u>31.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. The Town provides vacation leave with pay for all regular full-time employees and for all regular part-time employees. Annual vacation may be taken as earned, but in no event prior to at least six (6) months of creditable employment in Town service.
- 31.2 <u>Vacation Leave</u>. Vacation leave shall be credited to employees as of their anniversary date each year, to be taken during the coming year. Vacation leave is accrued per month and is granted on the basis of continuous town service, according to the following schedule:
  - (a) Upon completion of six (6) months of continuous service, the employee shall be entitled to one week of paid vacation, to be used prior to completion of the first 24 months of service.
  - (b) Upon completion of twelve (12) months of continuous service, the employee shall be entitled to an additional week of paid vacation, to be used prior to completion of the first 24 months of service.
  - (c) Employees with two years but less than five years of continuous service shall be entitled to two (2) weeks of paid vacation, to be used prior to the following year's anniversary date.
  - (d) Employees with five years but less than ten years of continuous service shall be entitled to three (3) weeks of paid vacation, to be used prior to the following year's anniversary date.
  - (e) Employees with ten or more years of continuous service shall be entitled to four (4) weeks of paid vacation, to be used prior to the following year's anniversary date.
  - (f) Employees hired before January 1, 2019 and with fifteen or more years of continuous service shall be entitled to five (5) weeks of paid vacation, to be used prior to the following year's anniversary date.
- <u>31.3</u> <u>Part-Time Employees</u>. A regular part-time employee is eligible for vacation. The amount of vacation shall be determined by the ratio of regular part-time employment to regular full-time (i.e. 40 hour week) employment and follow the above schedule.
- <u>31.4</u> <u>Termination</u>. Whenever employment is terminated for any reason, the employee shall be paid for that vacation allowance accrued up to the time of the employee's separation from the payroll.
- <u>31.5</u> <u>Death</u>. Whenever employment is terminated by death, the beneficiary of the deceased shall be paid for that portion of the vacation allowance earned up to the time the employee died.
- <u>31.6</u> <u>Other Uses of Vacation Time</u>. At the discretion of the employee, sick leave used in excess of that authorized in the Sick Leave Policy may be charged to vacation leave.

- <u>31.7</u> <u>Holiday During Vacation Leave</u>. If a designated holiday that falls on or is legally observed on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, or Friday occurs while an employee is on vacation leave, that day is not charged as a vacation day.
- 31.8 <u>Approval and Filing of Vacations</u>. Requests for vacation leave must be submitted in advance to the employee's department head (or department head's designee) per the following: at least 14 days prior to the vacation leave starting for vacations of less 3 days, and at least 45 days prior for vacations of 3 or more days. Failure to provide said notice may be a legitimate reason for denial. The department head may waive this requirement at his or her discretion. Choice of vacation dates shall be granted whenever practical, but the operating requirements of the Town, as determined by the department head, shall prevail.
- 31.9 <u>Vacation Leave</u>. The minimum leave is 4 hours. Vacation shall be taken in increments of days and half days (4 hours). Vacation leave shall not be accumulated from one year to another.

Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 12, 2020

### POLICY NUMBER 32 PERSONAL LEAVE

32.1 Policy. A regular full-time employee or regular part-time employee shall be granted time off which the employee will be paid for at his/her normal rate of pay to conduct personal business. Such personal leave shall consist of four (4) days in any work year (pro-rated for regular part-time employees based on actual number of hours worked). A twenty-four (24) hour notice to the department head is required when requesting a personal day, and approval of such request shall be at the discretion of the department head, except no personal day may be granted during a work week in which the employee has worked or is scheduled to work overtime hours. Personal leave days shall not be accumulated from year to year.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board August 27, 2013

### POLICY NUMBER 33 SICK LEAVE

- <u>33.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. Sick leave shall be used for the employee's own physical or mental illness, injury, or other medical condition that requires home, preventative, or professional care. Sick leave, up to a maximum of 40 hours per year, may also be used to care for a child, parent, spouse, or parent of a spouse who is suffering from a physical or mental illness, injury, or other medical conditions that require home, preventative or professional care; and to attend routine medical appointments for themselves and those same family members; and to address the effects of domestic violence on the employee or employee's child; and to travel to and from an appointment, pharmacy, or other location related to the purpose for which the time was taken. Use of sick time for other purposes is not allowed and may result in the employee being disciplined.
- <u>33.2</u> <u>Regular Full-Time Employees</u>. Regular full-time employees begin accruing sick time on the first day of work, but are not eligible to use it until after 90 days of creditable employment. Sick leave is accrued at the rate of one and one-quarter days per full month of creditable service. Sick leave credits may be accrued over an indefinite period of time provided it is continuous service, and it may be accumulated from year to year up to a maximum of one hundred forty (140) days.
- <u>33.3</u> <u>Regular Part-Time Employees</u>. Regular part-time employees begin accruing sick time on the first day of work, but are not eligible to use it until after 90 days of creditable employment. Sick leave is accrued at the rate of one and one-quarter days per full month of service except that it is reduced by the ratio of part-time employment to full-time employment. Sick leave credits may be accrued over an indefinite period of time provided it is continuous service, and it may be accumulated from year to year up to a maximum of one hundred forty (140) days.
- <u>33.4</u> <u>Notification</u>. An employee or member of his/her immediate family must notify the appropriate supervisor of illness and absence within two hours of the regular starting time of the workday except in emergency situations. An employee who becomes ill while on duty should request absence from his/her supervisor. If the absence is foreseeable, the employee must provide as much advance notice as possible.
- <u>33.5</u> <u>Documentation of the Use of Sick Time</u>. The department head or supervisor may require a physician's written statement or other documentation (e.g. if related to domestic abuse, from police, counselor, or attorney) to support the use of sick time if it exceeds three (3) consecutive days of absence, or after a series of repeated sick leave absences during the year. A copy of the documentation shall be sent to the Town Administrator. Required documentation must be submitted within seven days of the absence. Additional time will be allowed for good cause shown. If an employee fails to timely comply with the documentation requirements, the paid sick time may be recouped from future wages.

<u>33.6</u> <u>Expectations Regarding Attendance</u>. Regular, reliable attendance and timeliness are expected of all employees. If the employee abuses this policy by using sick leave for purposes other than those allowed, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action.

If an employee exhibits a clear pattern of taking sick leave on days just before or after a weekend, holiday, or vacation, the employee may be disciplined unless the employee provides written documentation justifying the use of leave.

- <u>33.7</u> <u>Interaction with Other Types of Leave</u>. If time off covered under this policy is also covered under the FMLA, Parental Leave, Domestic Leave, or SNLA leave policies, sick time shall run concurrently with such leave.
- <u>33.8</u> <u>Buy Back Upon Retirement</u>. Upon retirement pursuant to M.G.L. CHh. 32, the employee shall be eligible to receive thirty-five percent (35%) of his/her accrued sick leave as cash payment. This provision is eliminated for all employees hired after January 1, 2019.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board January 23, 2019

### POLICY NUMBER 34 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- <u>34.1</u> <u>Applicability</u>. The Town provides bereavement leave to all employees of the town.
- <u>34.2</u> <u>Policy</u>. Bereavement leave, without loss of pay, shall be granted for a death in an employee's immediate or extended family, as defined in this section.
- 34.3 Definitions
  - (a) *Immediate Family* guardian, spouse, children, stepchildren, parents, siblings, stepsiblings, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, and other relatives or significant others who reside in the same household as the employee.
  - (b) *Extended Family* grandparents-in-law, sister or brother-in-law, niece, nephew, aunt or uncle.
- <u>34.4</u> Bereavement Leave Involving an Immediate Family Member
  - (a) For a death in the immediate family, an employee shall receive leave for a maximum of five (5) consecutive days whether they were scheduled or unscheduled working days. If the bereavement period falls during the employee's previously scheduled working day(s), the employee shall not lose any pay for time missed in connection with the bereavement leave. If the bereavement period falls on any day(s) that the employee had been previously scheduled as a day(s) off, the employee shall not be made to come into work, nor shall be paid for the previously scheduled day(s) off in conjunction with the bereavement leave.
  - (b) Unless there are extenuating circumstances, and the department head has given prior approval, the five (5) day bereavement period shall run concurrently and in succession with the day of the funeral and any combination of four (4) other concurrent and successive days. The four (4) days, in addition to the day of the funeral, shall run immediately prior to, or subsequent to, the day of the funeral. Said four (4) days may be in any combination prior to or subsequent to the day of the funeral, adding up to a total of five (5) consecutive days. At no time shall bereavement leave be more than five (5) consecutive days for the death of an immediate family member.
  - (c) With prior approval of the department head, and only in *extenuating circumstances*, the bereavement leave can be taken as nonconsecutive or non-successive days to the funeral.

## <u>34.5</u> Bereavement Leave Involving an Extended Family Member

For a death in the extended family, if the funeral falls on a previously scheduled working day, the employee shall receive one (1) day leave, without loss of pay for the day of the funeral.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

### POLICY NUMBER 35 MILITARY LEAVE

- <u>35.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. An employee of the Town of Rehoboth who is a member of a reserve component of the armed forces of the United States shall be entitled to receive pay without loss of ordinary remuneration as a town employee during annual training not exceeding seventeen (17) calendar days in any fiscal year. The employee shall not lose any seniority or any accrued vacation leave, sick leave, personal leave, compensation time or earned overtime. Proof of the employee's service shall be submitted and kept on file by the appropriate town authority. These benefits are in accordance with Chapter 33, Section 59 of the Massachusetts General Laws.
- <u>35.2</u> <u>Reinstatement</u>. The Town of Rehoboth prohibits discrimination against employees on the basis of military duty, affiliation or status, and requires reinstatement of an employee following military leave to the same position or a position of like seniority, status and pay, as dictated by federal and state laws. Generally, an employee will be reinstated if he or she is still qualified to perform the job duties and circumstances don't make it impossible, unreasonable or against public policy to place the employee back into the same or similar position.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 22, 2017

### POLICY NUMBER 36 JURY DUTY

<u>36.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. Employees called for jury duty shall be paid an amount equal to the difference between compensation paid for the normal working period and the amount paid by the court, excluding allowance for travel. The amount due the employee shall be certified by the department head upon presentation of proper verification of monies received for jury duty. The department head's amount due shall be certified by the Board of Selectmen or their designee.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

### POLICY NUMBER 37 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT

<u>37.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. Town employees who use their own vehicles to conduct town business shall be reimbursed at the approved IRS rate per mile. Employees will also be reimbursed for payment of tolls upon submission of a receipt for such payment (not subject to taxes). The appropriate department head, under supervision of the Board of Selectmen, must approve these reimbursements prior to submission and approval by the Town Accountant.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board July 8, 2014

### WORKPLACE POLICIES

### POLICY NUMBER 38 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY

- <u>38.1</u> Introduction. The Town is pleased to provide Information Technology Resources (ITR) including, but not limited to, computers, laptops, printers and other peripherals, programs, data, fax machines, local and wide area networks, email, the internet, palm pilots, and mobile phones to employees and other authorized users working in the Town (herein collectively referred to as *employees*) to more efficiently provide Town services. All employees using the Town's ITR have an obligation to use the Town's ITR in a responsible manner, conforming to network etiquette, customs, and courtesies and in compliance with this policy. The Town determines which, if any, ITR are appropriate for each position and provides ITR to employees where appropriate at the Town's discretion. Use of the Town's ITR is a privilege which may be revoked at any time for conduct which violates this policy.
- <u>38.2</u> <u>Legal Liability</u>. This policy is in place to minimize the risk of legal liability to users and to the Town of Rehoboth that might result from the use of our electronic communication and information technology systems.
  - (a) Electronic mail is made available as a business communication tool and Town employees are obliged to use this tool in a responsible, effective and lawful manner. Although email might appear to be less formal than other written communication, it is subject to the same laws that apply to other forms of communication, such as G.L.c.4 § 7, clause twenty-six (the Public Records Law) and those against defamation or those protecting intellectual or personal property rights. The Town's existing or future policies prohibiting sexual and other forms of harassment apply equally to the use of Town e-mail and other system components.
    - (1) If you should create or transmit any message or material with libelous, defamatory, harassing, offensive, racist or obscene content, you may incur personal liability for civil damages and/or be criminally prosecuted.
    - (2) If you violate client confidentiality by sharing or forwarding confidential information, other than on a need to know basis, and in accord with Town policy, you and/or the Town may be held liable for damages.
  - (b) The use of Town email or other system components in disregard or violation of this Policy may result in personal liability to the user, and the Town may disassociate itself from the user as far as possible within the law.

This policy replaces any and all other previously adopted policies, past practices, or customs and clarifies for the employee and employer workplace expectations in the use of technology. Use of the Town's ITR by an employee shall constitute acceptance of the terms of this policy by such employee.

- <u>38.3</u> <u>Compliance with Policy</u>
  - (a) Employee Responsibilities: Every employee who is authorized to use Town ITR will be provided with a copy of this policy. It is the responsibility of an employee using the Town's ITR to read, understand, and adhere to this policy. Any employee with questions regarding the application or meaning of this policy should seek clarification from his/her supervisor or from the Town Administrator. Failure to comply with this policy may result in suspension or termination of the employee's ITR privileges and/or disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.
  - (b) Prohibited Conduct. The use of the Town's ITR for inappropriate or prohibited conduct may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination from employment. Employees using the Town of Rehoboth ITR accounts are acting as representatives of the Town. As such, employees should act accordingly so as not to damage the reputation of the Town. Prohibited activities with respect to a Town Employee's use of the ITR include, but are not limited to, the following:
    - (1) furtherance of any illegal act, including violations of any state or federal criminal or civil laws or regulations;
    - (2) accessing, displaying, or sharing sexually explicit, obscene, or otherwise inappropriate materials, messages, or images;
    - (3) sending or displaying threatening or harassing messages, materials, or images, including, but not limited to, messages, materials or images of a sexual nature, racial, ethnic, sexual, religious, or gender-based slurs, or messages or images that offensively address someone's age, sexual orientation, religion, race, ethnicity, national origin, natural or protective hairstyle, disability or political beliefs.
    - (4) accessing, displaying, or disseminating material that advocates violence or discrimination towards other people (hate literature);
    - (5) communications for any commercial purpose, including, but not limited to, the offering, providing, leasing, or purchasing of products or services;
    - (6) gaining, or attempting to gain, unauthorized access to any computer or network;
    - (7) intercepting or attempting to intercept communications intended for other persons;
    - (8) misrepresenting either the Town or the employee's role at the Town;
    - (9) communications for any political purpose (subject to the exceptions set forth in Section 38.7 of this Policy, below) or solicitations in violation of Massachusetts General Laws, chapter 55;
    - (10) promotion of religious beliefs;
    - (11) communications that libel or otherwise defame any person;
    - (12) downloading and/or installing non-Town supported and licensed software applications or programs;
    - (13) violating any copyright laws or infringing on any intellectual property rights;
    - (14) distributing chain letters;

- (15) accessing online gambling sites;
- (16) connecting unauthorized or unapproved computers, printers or peripherals to the Town's network;
- (17) utilizing alternate Internet Service Provider connections and email accounts from the Town of Rehoboth internal network unless expressly authorized by the Town Administrator and properly protected by an appropriate security device;
- (18) using computers or the internet for games of any type, browser-based web reimbursements, or to seek employment opportunities;
- (19) developing or using programs that harass other users or infiltrate a computer, computing system or network and/or damage or alter the software components of a computer, computing system or network;
- (20) establishing unauthorized connections which create routing patterns that are inconsistent with the effective and shared use of the Town's network;
- (21) communications for any use that causes interference with or disruption of the Town's ITR;
- (22) communications for any use that causes interference with or disruption of the Town's network users or resources;
- (23) Any activity on social networking sites, such as Facebook, unless authorized by the Town Administrator, and that such use remains consistent with all other aspects of this policy;
- (24) Any use which violates other Town policies, including but not limited to the Town's policy against sexual harassment.

The above list of prohibited conduct is not all-inclusive. Employees who are uncertain as to the appropriateness of any action or conduct being contemplated should consult their supervisors or the Town Administrator for guidance.

- (c) Town Business Use. The Town's ITR, including, but not limited to, the Town's email and other online services, are the property of the Town of Rehoboth, and should be used only for business purposes associated with the Town. Personal use of any of the ITR or misuse of ITR may result in serious disciplinary action up to and including termination from employment. Use of the Town's ITR is a privilege, not a right, and may be revoked at any time for inappropriate conduct.
- <u>38.4</u> <u>Public Records</u>. Under G.L. c. 4, § 7, clause twenty-six, "All books, papers, maps, photographs, recorded tapes, financial statements, statistical tabulations, or other documentary materials or data, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received by any officer or employee of any agency, executive office, department, board, commission, bureau, division or authority of the commonwealth, or of any political subdivision thereof" are considered public documents. Accordingly, email messages are considered public records, are subject to disclosure and record retention requirements of Law, and are discoverable. Employees should not expect that email messages (even those marked "personal" and/or "confidential") are private or confidential. Employees shall not read email received by another employee when there is no business purpose for doing so. Employees shall not send email or access the Internet under another employee's name

without authorization. No employee shall change any portion of a previously sent email message without authorization. Employees shall not place Town records or material, including but not limited to copyrighted software and internal communications, on any publicly accessible computer or website without prior express authorization of the Town Administrator.

38.5 Monitoring and No Expectation of Privacy. Employees shall have no expectation of privacy in any use of the Town's Information Technology Resources (ITR). All electronic files and documents originating from or passing through the Town's systems are considered to be the property of the Town of Rehoboth.

The Town's computer system automatically stores and/or records information transmitted on the system including password-protected materials, data, information, email communications, and web sites viewed. The Town may monitor employee use of ITR, including, but not limited to, computer equipment, email, the internet, web sites visited, and files downloaded by the employee. *Therefore, employees should <u>not</u> consider ITR and any communications, transmissions, web sites viewed, and email sent or received, to be private or confidential. The mere deletion of messages, data, or files may not eliminate them from the system. All use of the Town's ITR is subject to monitoring by the Town, at anytime without notice and notwithstanding any password(s), including, but not limited to data, incoming and outgoing email communications, and attachments. Web sites visited or viewed and files downloaded. Use of the Town's ITR system constitutes consent to monitoring and is conditioned upon strict adherence to this policy.* 

- <u>38.6</u> <u>Precautions Against Computer Viruses</u>. All software downloads must be approved by the Town Administrator and/or the Information Technology Advisory Committee **before** installation. All users are expected to undertake precautions to prevent infection of Town computers by computer viruses. In particular, executable programs imported from other sites to Town computers, alternate internet service provider connections, and email accounts from the Town's internal network must not be used unless the Town Administrator has authorized them and they have been subjected to virus detection procedures approved by the Town Administrator. The Town Administrator may, from time to time, impose additional restrictions or regulations on the importing of remote files, and such restrictions or regulations shall be considered part of this policy.
- <u>38.7</u> <u>Political Activities and Conflicts of Interest</u>. An employee's use of the Town's ITR must not conflict with the State's Conflict of Interest Laws (M.G.L. ch. 268A) or Campaign Finance Laws (M.G.L. ch. 55). Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 29.3.2(i) of this Policy above, political activities may be permitted to the extent that such activities are a part of the official responsibilities of an employee, provided that such activities relate to political issues rather than specific political candidates or parties and provided further that such conduct does not violate any applicable laws. For further clarification please see *Campaign Finance Guide*, revised in January, 2003 and issued by the Office of Campaign and Political Finance, and related publications, available on-line at <u>www.mass.gov/ocpf.</u>

38.8 Additional Responsibilities of Department Heads, Managers, and Supervisors. Managers and supervisors are responsible for ensuring that all employees under their supervision using any of the Town's ITR have read this Policy and understand its applicability to their activities. The Department Head is responsible for insuring that any employee who will be given any access to the Town's ITR has read and signed a copy of this policy. Upon promulgation, this policy will be distributed to all employees. Employees shall sign an acknowledgement of receipt that shall be placed in the employee's personnel file. The Town's ITR are work tools. The appointing authority and or Department Head shall deem who appropriately can utilize such tools to better perform his or her job duties.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board October 2, 2012

### POLICY NUMBER 39 SOCIAL MEDIA ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY

#### <u>39.1</u> Purpose

Because social media are in pervasive use every day across our society, guidance for their appropriate use for town business is needed. The use of social media presents many risks and carries with it important responsibilities. This section provides direction to town employees on the use of social media as a means of communication. This policy is intended to clarify the boundaries between appropriate and inappropriate use of social media by employees to help protect their careers and the town's reputation.

Nothing in this Policy is intended to interfere with, restrain, or prevent employee communications or expressions that are protected by law, including, without limitation, the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, State and Federal Whistleblower law, and State and Federal Labor law.

This Policy applies to all Town employees; however, to the extent that this Policy conflicts with the provision(s) of an employee's collective bargaining agreement, such agreement will control.

#### 39.2 Definitions

*Employee* — all Rehoboth town officers, committee members, and employees, regardless of whether elected, appointed, or volunteers. *Town Employee* shall have the same meaning as *Municipal Employee* as defined in G.L. c. 268A, § 1(g).

*Social media* — the various forms of electronic communication via the Internet. Social media can include the sharing and exchange of information in the form of electronic data, text, audio, video, images, podcasts, broadcast emails, and web casts and other multimedia communications. Examples include posting text, images, videos, etc., on internet sites or blogs, on social web pages such as Facebook, YouTube, Twitter, Snapchat, Instagram, TikTok, and other such media, and on open forums and letters to the editor.

*Town equipment* — all town electronic equipment, including workstations, laptops, mobile phones, tablets, routers, printers, fax machines, and any other town equipment that may be utilized for transmission of electronic communications. See the Information Technology Acceptable Use Policy.

#### <u>39.3</u> Social Media Use

In conducting work-related business, employees shall generally not use social media. Approvals to do so must come in writing from the Board of Selectmen, the Town Administrator, or the department head, based on stated business needs. Postings on such approved social media are intended for communicating information with the sole purpose of informing the public of work, news, and updates. Work-related posting on behalf of the town will be done by a department head or their designee. The Town Administrator's Office will keep current records of who is authorized to use social media for town business.

Employees should not speak to the media on the Town's behalf unless specifically authorized. Direct all media inquiries to your supervisor or the Town Administrator for the Town's response.

Caution must be exercised when an employee believes a response is needed to something posted on a social media platform that is work-related. Inform your supervisor or liaison of the need. Even employees authorized to speak for their department or committee must consult a supervisor or liaison when the matter could be sensitive.

Postings by town personnel to social media and any response or reply thereto become public records, subject to Massachusetts Public Records Law. See the Information Technology Acceptable Use Policy. All person(s) using social media for town business will record or log the material they communicate using an established process to be determined by the Town. This will ensure retention of a public information record.

Town employees must refrain from using any social media for personal purposes while on work time. Also, at any time, do not use town equipment for personal social media purposes. Never use your work email address(es) to register on social media networks, blogs, or other online tools for personal use. You may share information about your work for the Town of Rehoboth such as would be shared in a typical social exchange: your employer's name, your job title, or your participation in town sponsored volunteer activities.

The Town reserves the right to monitor behavior on town-owned equipment and software.

#### 39.4 Appropriate Communications by Town Employees

This section provides direction to town employees on the use of social media as a means of communication. The same or similar policies apply to other public communications made by employees concerning town business. Special care is needed, because inappropriate discussion or posts on social media are capable of widespread dissemination.

(a) Be respectful, never derogatory, sarcastic, or demeaning, even when responding to messages that appear hostile or critical. Avoid joking, teasing, or other ambiguous communications that can be misinterpreted. This rule includes communications with fellow employees, customers, vendors, or other people who work on behalf of or

with the Town, and with town citizens. Refer sensitive issues to a supervisor for advice or handling.

- (b) Do not post statements, photographs, video, or audio that might constitute discrimination, harassment, or bullying; or that reasonably could be viewed as malicious, obscene, threatening or intimidating or disparaging to co-workers, clients, vendors, suppliers, other town contacts, or town citizens.
- (c) Employees are expressly prohibited from using social media in a manner that violates the law, including to solicit minors for sex or to violate any other laws regarding minors and their protection as well as to use any sexual or pornographic imagery or material. Employees who violate these provisions will be subject to discipline up to and including termination, as well as referral to authorities for prosecution.
- (d) Never represent yourself as a spokesperson for the Town, as representing an opinion or making a statement about the policy or view of the Town or of any Town employee.
- (e) Public dissemination of confidential information which the employee learns in her/his official capacity is prohibited, as is dissemination of workplace information that, while not confidential, is not yet public information. Always maintain the confidentiality of the Town's proprietary and/or otherwise confidential information, as well as health care information and personal protected information that may be maintained by the Town concerning Town personnel or residents. Do not post reports, policies, procedures or other internal communications.
- (f) Never disseminate rumors or information that you know might be false about the Town, fellow employees, customers, suppliers, people working on behalf of or with the Town, or town citizens.
- (g) Do not post anywhere the Town's logo, images of co-workers, customers, vendors, third parties who participate in the workplace, or images of the Town's premises, property, or equipment, without prior written authorization from the Town Administrator. Do not wear any Town uniform or display Town insignia in any social media postings.
- (h) Do not take, make, or publish in any forum photographs, video or audio transmissions, or recordings of Town proceedings or operations, including social media sites, other internet sites, print or broadcast news media, or elsewhere, except if specifically authorized to do so for Town business-related purposes.
- (i) In personal postings and communications, if the Town is a subject of the content you are creating, be clear and open about the fact that you are an employee and make it clear that your views do not represent those of the Town, fellow employees, customers, vendors, or other people working on behalf of the Town. Include a

disclaimer such as "The postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Town of Rehoboth."

### <u>39.5</u> <u>Monitoring and Enforcement</u>

Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

The Board of Selectmen will designate an office/official who will monitor work-related content on social media. The Town can modify, remove, or correct any messages or postings that it deems, in its sole discretion, to be abusive, defamatory, and in violation of intellectual property, state, or federal law; or that is inaccurate, misleading, or unauthorized; or that violates the principles of appropriate use in the Information Technology Acceptable Use Policy.

In no instance will an employee be disciplined, retaliated against or discharged for good faith reporting of possible deviations from this polity.

A copy of this policy will be distributed to all employees, including un-paid volunteers, and to committee members through their committee chairs. A sign-off will indicate having received and read the policy.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 21, 2023

### POLICY NUMBER 40 SUBSTANCE ABUSE

<u>40.1</u> <u>Policy</u>. The Town of Rehoboth recognizes alcohol and drug abuse can cause health, safety, job performance, and security problems. The Town expects all employees to assist in maintaining a work environment free from the effects of alcohol, drugs or other intoxicating substances. The following principles will govern our substance abuse policy.

#### 40.2 Illegal Drugs and Alcohol

- (a) Employees are prohibited from the manufacture, possession, use, distribution, or purchase of illegally used controlled substances or drugs and intoxicants on Town premises or in Town vehicles, and from working under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs or intoxicants during working hours.
- (b) The substances prohibited by this policy include but are not limited to: marijuana, opiates, phencyclidine (PCP), and cocaine, as well as any drug not approved for medical use by the US Drug Enforcement Administration or the US Food and Drug Administration. Illegal use includes use of any illegal drug, misuse of legally prescribed drugs, and use of illegally obtained prescription drugs.

#### 40.3 Legal Drugs

- (a) The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-prescription medications is not prohibited. Each employee is responsible for being aware of and following all cautions associated with the use of prescription and non-prescription legal drugs.
- (b) Employees of the Town whose positions have a direct impact on the safety of others have a special responsibility to use legal prescription drugs safely. Examples of these positions are police officer, firefighter, and heavy equipment operator. The use of any substance that carries a warning label that indicates that mental functioning, motor skills or judgment may be adversely affected must be reported to supervisory personnel and medical advice must be sought by the employee, as appropriate, before performing work-related duties.

#### 40.4 Violations

- (a) Any employee who is convicted of any violation of any criminal drug statute occurring on Town premises or during working time shall notify his or her Department Head within five (5) days of the date of such conviction. The Department Head will then notify the Personnel Officer/Personnel Board and Board of Selectmen immediately.
- (b) Violation of the substance abuse policy will result in discipline, up to and including termination of employment.

### 40.5 Treatment

- (a) Any employee who asks for treatment or who is diagnosed as being drug dependent will be given the same consideration and offer of assistance that is presently given to all employees with any kind of disease or medical problem. Although employees are encouraged to seek treatment for a substance abuse/dependency problem, seeking treatment does not preclude the Town from pursuing appropriate disciplinary action.
- (b) The individual employee is responsible for deciding whether to request diagnosis and accept treatment for drug dependence. Individuals who refuse to accept referral for diagnosis or treatment, and who have performance issues, will be handled just like any other employee whose job performance is declining. The Town will determine whether, when, and under what circumstances an employee may be re-employed after an instance of substance abuse.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 11, 2014

### POLICY 41 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE POLICY

- 41.1 Introduction. The Town of Rehoboth is committed to preventing workplace violence and providing a safe work environment. The Town prohibits and does not tolerate violent acts or threats of violence against employees, visitors, guests or other individuals within its facilities or during any Town-related activity, including off-duty periods.
- 41.2 Definition of Workplace Violence. *Workplace violence* is violence or the threat of violence against workers. It can occur at or outside the workplace, and can range from verbal or physical threats, verbal abuse, intimidation, to aggressive physical contact and homicide.
- <u>41.3</u> <u>Prohibited Conduct</u>. Prohibited conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - (a) Intimidation, harassment, assault, battery, stalking, or conduct that causes a person to believe that he/she is under a threat of death or bodily injury.
  - (b) Inflicting or threatening injury or damage to another person's life, health, wellbeing, family, or property.
  - (c) Possessing a firearm (unless required and authorized for duty), explosive, hazardous device or substance, or other dangerous weapon, or using an object as a weapon on Town property or during any Town-related activity.
  - (d) Abusing or damaging Town or employee property.
  - (e) Using obscene or abusive language or gestures in a threatening manner.
  - (f) Raising voices in a threatening manner.

Because of the potential for misunderstanding, joking about any of the above conduct is also prohibited. Employees are also expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay," or other conduct that may be dangerous to others.

- <u>41.4</u> <u>Restraining Orders</u>. Any employee who obtains a restraining order against any person should immediately notify management. The Town of Rehoboth has made a commitment to provide a safe workplace and can only do so if it receives information concerning individuals who have been ordered to maintain a distance from its facilities and/or employees.
- 41.5 <u>Warning Signs of Potential Violence</u>. There are often signs serving as a warning that violence in the workplace may occur. Please review the following list of common early warning signs, keeping in mind that demonstration by an individual of one or many of the actions on the below list do not automatically point to certain violence. However, their activities should be noted and the Town's Employee Assistance Program service could become involved to assist detecting and defusing a potential workplace incident.

- (a) Increase in use of alcohol or drugs.
- (b) History of violence or aggressive behavior or frequent physical fighting off or on duty.
- (c) Displaying a loss of control (i.e., loss of temper on a frequent basis, frequently for unsubstantiated reasons or over minor issues).
- (d) Either joking or making serious direct or veiled threats.
- (e) Physically, verbally or emotionally intimidating others or instilling fear, for example harassing telephone calls, e-mails and/or stalking.
- (f) Being obsessed with one's job and having no known outside interests.
- (g) Being a loner and/or expressing a strong desire for a personal or romantic relationship with a co-worker. Under these circumstances, the co-worker may feel threatened and report the unwarranted attention.
- (h) Obsession with weapons or militia, particularly if this is new behavior for an employee or volunteer.
- (i) Feeling constantly disrespected, demonstrating a "me versus the world" attitude. Experiencing difficulty with authority, for example feeling discriminated against, harassed, or intentionally targeted. Does not accept criticism well and commonly harbors resentment.
- (j) Expressing desperation, significant frustration, or depression over recent professional, personal, or financial problems.
- (k) Fascination with other recent incidents of violence and approval of the use of violence.
- (l) Disregard for safety, thus presenting a risk to self and others.
- (m) Demonstrating a lack of conscience and/or abuse towards other persons or animals.
- (n) Vandalism or property damage.
- (o) Failing to acknowledge the feelings or rights of others.
- (p) Having been a victim of violence or bullying.

All acts of, or threats of, violence will be thoroughly investigated and disciplinary action and/or legal prosecution to the fullest extent possible will be pursued against employees, and non-employees, for violating this policy.

- 41.6 What to Do. If you witness a potentially violent situation, or are dealing with a threatening or violent person, do not place yourself in danger or try to intercede. You should not attempt to challenge or disarm the individual. Tips proven to be effective in this type of situation are:
  - (a) Try to remain calm
  - (b) Keep a distance of 4-6 feet
  - (c) Do not touch the threatening or violent individual
  - (d) Make constant eye contact, but do not try to "stare them down"
  - (e) Actively listen and respond to the individual

If a supervisor or other appropriate authority can be safely notified of the need for assistance without endangering your safety or that of others, do so. Otherwise cooperate and follow the instructions given. Please see reporting procedures below.

### 41.7 <u>Reporting Procedures</u>

- (a) All threats of (or actual) violence, both direct and indirect, **must** be reported as soon as possible to your immediate supervisor, department head, town administrator, Personnel Board, or any other member of management. Employees are empowered to contact the appropriate law enforcement authorities without first informing their immediate supervisor if there is a reasonable belief that immediate danger to their own safety or that of others exists. Employees shall then immediately report to their supervisor or others in the chain of command.
- (b) A reportable incident can be an act or threat from employees, as well as other members of the public and incudes those threats or acts that may be perceived, actually experienced, or witnessed. When reporting an act or threat of violence, you should be as specific and detailed as possible. Employees must also report all threats or violent acts they witness or experience while on duty away from the Town of Rehoboth premises, or during any Town of Rehoboth-related activity or which is related to the employee or legitimate business interest of Town of Rehoboth.
- (c) The identity of the individual making a report will be protected as much as practical. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, The Town of Rehoboth may suspend employees suspected of violence or threats of violence, either with or without pay, pending investigation.
- (d) In no instance will an employee be disciplined, retaliated against ,or discharged for good faith reporting of any legitimate act or threat of violence. Anyone reasonably believed to have engaged in retaliation of any kind will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment and/or prosecution for any criminal behavior linked to retaliatory activity. False or intentionally misleading reports are unacceptable and will be handled through Town personnel procedures regarding disciplinary measures up to and including employment termination when appropriate.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board September 15, 2015

### POLICY NUMBER 42 WORKPLACE BULLYING

- 42.1 Policy. The Town of Rehoboth is committed to providing a work environment for its employees that is free of bullying. Accordingly, bullying is strictly prohibited.
- 42.2 <u>Definition of Bullying</u>. Bullying is any abusive, repeated and unwelcome conduct committed by an individual or group against another, sometimes as a result of an imbalance of power. Bullying can take on many forms. Examples of bullying conduct include, but are not limited to:
  - (a) Teasing, name-calling, slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a person or his/her family;
  - (b) Screaming, yelling, shouting, or swearing at another in public or private;
  - (c) Cyber bullying which is the sending or posting of harmful and/or cruel text or images via the internet, cell phones, chat rooms, email, instant messaging, or any other form of digital communication;
  - (d) Unreasonable public criticism, reprimands, or trivializing of another's work;
  - (e) Destructive gossip, rumors, or innuendo;
  - (f) Physical pushing, shoving, throwing things;
  - (g) Non-verbal threatening gestures, staring or glaring;
  - (h) Intentional interference with another's work; and
  - (i) Purposefully excluding, isolating, or marginalizing a person from normal work activities
- 42.3 <u>Reporting Bullying Behavior</u>. If any employee believes he/she has been subjected to bullying, the employee has the right to file a complaint. This may be done in writing or orally, and should be done as soon as possible. The employee filing the complaint is not required to directly confront any persons who are the source of the problem or closely associated with the person who is the source of the problem. The employee is required to make a reasonable effort to bring forward any allegations of bullying so that the Town may stop it and prevent future occurrences. The employee can choose to file the complaint with his/her supervisor, department head, Town Administrator, or the Personnel Board.
- <u>42.4</u> <u>Non-retaliation for Reporting</u>. This policy prohibits retaliation against any person who reports bullying, assists someone with a report of bullying, or participates in an investigation or resolution of a bullying complaint.
- 42.5 Investigation

When the complaint is received, the supervisor, department head, Town Administrator or the Personnel Board will promptly investigate the allegation in a fair and expeditious manner. The Town will make every effort to ensure that those named in the complaint, or who are too closely associated with those involved in the complaint, will not be part of the investigative team or efforts. The Town of Rehoboth can, at its discretion, utilize a neutral third-party investigator to address the allegations.

The investigation will be conducted in such a way as to maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable under the circumstances. The investigation will include a private interview with the person filing the complaint and with witnesses. The person alleged to have used bullying behavior will also be interviewed. When the investigation has been completed, to the extent appropriate, the person filing the complaint and the person alleged to have committed the harassment will be informed of the results of that investigation.

If either employee is not satisfied with the results of the investigation, he/she may appeal utilizing the Grievance Procedure Personnel Policy. The Personnel Board is available to discuss any other concerns the employee may have and to provide information about the policy on bullying, the complaint process, and the grievance procedure.

The Town recognizes that making false, bad faith accusations can have serious consequences for those who are wrongly accused. The Town prohibits deliberately making false accusations and or providing false information during an investigation. Policy violators are subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

If it is determined that bullying conduct has occurred, the appropriate supervisor, department head, or Town Administrator will act promptly to ensure that steps are taken to eliminate the offending conduct, and where it is appropriate, that disciplinary action is taken.

<u>42.6</u> <u>Disciplinary Action</u>. Any employee found to have acted inappropriately will be subject to disciplinary action. Such action may range from counseling to termination from employment, and may include such other forms of disciplinary action as deemed appropriate under the circumstances. Disciplinary action will be carried out and determined per the Discipline Personnel Policy.

## Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 12, 2020

### POLICY NUMBER 43 DRESS CODE GUIDELINES

- 43.1 Policy. The Town of Rehoboth expects employees to maintain a high standard of personal hygiene and present themselves in a neat and professional manner. Job duties, responsibilities, degree of client contact and safety issues will govern the definition of one's regular work attire. When job responsibilities place employees in direct contact with town officials, state officials or legislators they should dress in business attire or check ahead to see what would be considered appropriate attire. While the Town trusts each employee's judgment, a dress code policy provides guidance for all employees in their work environments.
- <u>43.2</u> <u>Applicability</u>. These guidelines apply to all non-uniformed employees in the town's offices and facilities. Any assigned uniform or other identification materials provided or required by the department shall be worn in accordance with department policies.
- <u>43.3</u> <u>General All Employees</u>. All employees must be clean and well groomed. Grooming preferences or dictates by religion, ethnicity, etc., are not restricted, but should always be well presented. All clothes should be clean and neat and in good repair, without discernible rips, tears, or holes. Clothing or tattoos bearing offensive language or logos that are, or could be seen by others as, profane racist, sexist, political, or discriminatory are not permitted. Clothes that are typically worn for working out, outdoor activities or recreation, or are too revealing, are not allowed. The following are examples of inappropriate attire: sweat pants, yoga wear, mini-skirts, spaghetti straps, bare midriffs, tank tops, sport or casual sandals, flip-flops, and shorts, provided however that uniform-like work attire may include knee-length dress or cargo-style shorts, as deemed appropriate on a position-by-position basis.
- <u>43.4</u> <u>General Office Employees</u>. Office employees should, as a minimum, abide by standard business casual attire. Employees are expected to use good judgment and to show courtesy to their co-workers and the public by dressing in a manner that is appropriate for professional interactions in a place of business.
- <u>43.5</u> <u>General Non-office Employees</u>. Attire for employees working outside the office should be appropriate for the requirements of the job, including environmental conditions, worker safety, etc. These requirements are established and enforced by the department head.

<u>43.6</u> <u>Enforcement</u>. Department heads are responsible for advising employees about their appearance and attire, as well as ensuring that employees adhere to the department's safety policies and comply with OSHA standards. If a violation does occur the department head will have a private conversation with the employee and may require the employee to go home and change. Employees will not be compensated for the time away from the job. Repeated policy violations will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

# Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board March 6, 2016

### POLICY NUMBER 44 OFFICE DECORATIONS POLICY

- <u>44.1</u> Policy. From time to time, the Town may display appropriate seasonal decorations in public areas, such as at reception, in the lobby, and in lunch and break areas or group work areas. Employees may not decorate these areas or other public or group work areas without express prior permission of the Town Administrator. Further, the Town recognizes that employees may wish to use seasonal or personal decorations in their own work areas. Employees should use moderation in decorating their workspaces to maintain a professional and pleasant work environment without inhibiting or disrupting its intended use.
- <u>44.2</u> <u>Procedure</u>. The Town shall make a reasonable effort to avoid decorations of an overtly religious nature, instead choosing those reflecting more secular traditions. Decorations will be tasteful and limited, as well as appropriate to public office décor. The Town has the exclusive right to install and remove seasonal decorations in public areas and common lunch or break areas.

Employees may apply similar principles in decorating personal workspaces, such as cubicles, desks, or offices, for seasonal or secular celebrations and personal purposes. Posters, pictures, notes, etc., are not permitted on the outside of workstation panels or desks, but are permitted on the inside of workstation panels or on desktops as long as they are appropriate for workplace display in a public building and are not offensive to other employees or the public.

Employees who have direct contact with the public must be sensitive to the constitutional prohibition on expression that creates a reasonable impression that the Town is sponsoring, endorsing or inhibiting religion generally, or favoring or disfavoring a particular religion. Nonetheless, religious expression is still permitted in public workplaces, so long as the public would reasonably understand the religious expression to be that of an employee acting in a personal capacity, and not that of the government. Employees may display religious art and literature in their public workplaces to the same extent that they may display other art and literature, so long as the viewing public would reasonably understand the religious art in his or her personal capacity, and not that of the Town.

<u>44.3</u> <u>Enforcement</u>. Any decorations viewed as offensive by constitutional or other reasonable standards may be required to be removed. Employees are asked to remain focused on maintaining an environment of professionalism and respect for others throughout the year. Questions regarding this policy should be directed to the Town Administrator.

### Approved by the Rehoboth Personnel Board February 12, 2020

#### APPENDICES

#### APPENDIX A TABLE OF PRESENT AND FORMER NUMBERING

The present version of this manual presents policies revised and approved through March 2024. The previous complete version of this manual presented policies revised and approved through March 2019. Policies shown here with a "—" were not present in that previous version.

PRESENT POLICY NUMBERING	PREVIOUS
1 General Provisions	1
2 Administration	2
3 Official Employee Records	3
4 Discipline	4
5 Standards of Conduct	5
6 Safety	6
7 Town Motor Vehicle Driver Policy	6A
8 Sexual Harassment Policy	10
9 Family and Medical Leave (FMLA)	9
10 Small Necessities Leave (SNLA)	9A
11 [Unused]	
12 Massachusetts Parental Leave	9B
13 Domestic Violence Leave	34
14 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation	ns 32
15 Pregnant Worker Policy	38
16 Grievance Procedure	28
17 Exit Interview	31
18 Recruitment and Employment	11
19 Orientation and Probation	12
20 Promotions	13
PRESENT POLICY NUMBERING	PREVIOUS

21 Training and Education	14
22 Performance Evaluation System	8
23 Classification Plan	15

24 Compensation Plan	16
25 General Hours of Work/Attendance	17
26 Interim Assignment Pay	18
27 Unpaid Leave of Absence	19
28 Volunteers	39
29 Overview of Employee Benefits	30
30 Holidays	23
31 Vacation Leave	22
32 Personal Leave	24
33 Sick Leave	21
34 Bereavement Leave	25
35 Military Leave	26
36 Jury Duty	20
37 Mileage Reimbursement	27
38 Information Technology Acceptable Use	29
39 Social Media Acceptable Use Policy	
40 Substance Abuse	7
41 Workplace Violence Policy	33
42 Workplace Bullying	
43 Dress Code Guidelines	36
44 Office Decoration Policy	

### APPENDIX B LIST OF FORMS REFERRED TO IN THE POLICY MANUAL

Forms associated with these policies are no longer presented within these policies. They are maintained in the Town Administrator's Office and can be accessed on line. This table identifies the policies which have Town of Rehoboth forms associated with them. Note that some sections mention forms that are offered by state or federal agencies; those are referenced by web links within the text of the section. The Office of the Town Administrator can assist with any of these forms.

Form Name Policy Section(s) of Policy	<ul> <li>Record of Counseling, Verbal Warning, or Written Warning</li> <li>Policy Number 4 — Discipline</li> <li>4.3 Procedure — Level One and Level Two Warnings; pages 10-11.</li> </ul>
Form Name	Employee Grievance Processing Form
Policy	Policy Number 16 — Grievance Procedure
Section(s) of Policy	16.3 Procedures (c) — Step Two; pages 41-42.
Form Name	<i>Town of Rehoboth Application for Employment</i>
Policy	Policy Number 18 — Recruitment and Appointment
Section(s) of Policy	18.2 (c) Applications; page 45.
Form Name	<i>Town of Rehoboth Performance Review Form</i>
Policy	Policy Number 22 — Performance Evaluation
Section(s) of Policy	22.3 Procedure (and following sections); pages 53 and following.